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Preface 

The writing of this work has been a great relief and satisfaction for 
the author because he has succeeded finally, after a period of almost 
ten years, to give to the public a report on his excavations of the Saint 
Euthymios Monastery at Khan el-Ahmar. 

The study begins with a brief history of the site and of the life of 
the Saint. It proceeds with a comprehensive description of each exca­
vated area and of the protective measures taken, for instance on the 
main church, the cemetery, the areas above and around the church 
and the cemetery, the area by the north wall of the Monastery, the 
area west of the main church, the refectory etc. Then follows a de­
scription of the small finds, a possible chronological sequence of the 
church and the cemetery, and the study ends with some remarks by the 
author. The text is accompanied by many black and white and colour 
photographs of some important parts of buildings, specific items and 
many drawings of the mosaics, important objects and buildings, as 
well as with many plans and sections of the excavated areas. 

Considering that this is a preliminary report, the author reserves 
the right to provide in a future more complete report further details of 
the excavated areas and the finds: architectural pieces, pottery, fresco 
fragments, coins and other metal objects, glass fragments, bones etc. 



he 

«υ 

.g-

Ci 

" 3 
SU 

«s: 

= 

be 

.,;..* , .̂  



THE MONASTERY OF SAINT EUTHYMIOS AT KHAN EL-AHMAR 399 
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Y.E.M. 

The History of the Monastery 

The ruins of the Monastery of St. Euthymios at Khan el-Ahmar 
(fig. 1) lie in the desert, just east of Jerusalem 'εν τη εξ ανατολών της 
άγιας πόλεως έρήμφ'1 (Map Reference 134/183) (fig. 2). They were 
first surveyed at the end of the last century2 and excavations in 
1928-30 were undertaken by the late Rev. Derwas J. Chitty on behalf 
of the British School of Archaeology at Jerusalem.3 In his effort to 

1. Ed. Schwartz, Kyrillos von Skythopolis, Leipzig 1939. p. 90, 27-28.; T. Tobler, To­
pographie von Jerusalem, vols I, II (Berlin 1853/54); A. Coure!, La Palestine sous 
les Empereurs Grecs 326-636, Grenoble 1869 pp. X1V-XV.; H. T. Norris, Mediae­
val Monasteries of Eastern Palestine PEQ(1950)pp. 31-39. 

2. K. Marti, Mittheilungen von Baurath C. Schick in Jerusalem iiber die alten Lauren 
und Klôster in der Wuste Juda in ZDPV 3 (1880),pp. 1-43; K. Furrer, Nachtrag zu 
Baurath Schick's Die alten Lauren und Klôster in der Wuste Juda in ZDPV 3 
(1880), pp. 234-236. 

3. D.J Chitty, Two Monasteries in the Wilderness of Judaea. PEF Q. St. 1928 pp. 
134-139; DJ. Chitty - Α. H. M. Jones, The Church of St. Euthymius at Khan el-
Ahmar near Jerusalem, PEF Q. St. 1928 pp. 175-178; E. Hanbwy Hank in, J L. 
Myres, The Structure of the Mosaics from the Church of St. Euthymius at Khan el-
Ahmar, PEF Q. St. 1929 pp 98-103.; D.J. Chitty, Excavation at the Monastery of St. 
Euthymius, 1929 PEF Q. St. 1930 pp. 43-47, 150-153.; A. Barrois, Une Chapelle 
funéraire au Couvent de Saint Euthyme, in Revue Biblique vol. 39 (1930) pp. 
272-275.; DJ. Chitty, The Monastery of St. Euthymius, PEF Q. St. 1932 pp. 
188-203. 
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determine the layout of the Monastery, Chitty uncovered the main 
church and cemetery block. The identification of the ruins as the 
laura, and subsequently the coenobium of St. Euthymios, is based 
mainly on the topographical description given in the Saint's Life by 
his biographer Cyril of Scythopolis4 and on the accounts of Ortho­
dox pilgrims who visited the monastery during the Middle Ages5. 
Further confirmation for this comes from the recent identification of 
Khirbet Murassah as the site of the Monastery of St. Martyrios6 

which, according to Cyril of Scythopolis (see ed. Schwartz p. 51, 
19-21), lies 15 stadia west of that of St. Euthymios 'ό δε Μαρτύριος 
εύρων σπήλαιον κατά δυσμάς της λαύρας ως από σταδίων δεκαπέντε 
ήσύχαζεν εις αυτό ένθα καί μοναστήριον σύν θεώ περιφανέστατον 
συνεστήσατο'. During excavations at Khirbet Murassah the tomb of 
the superior Paulos, also mentioned by Cyril (see Schwartz p. 65,20), 
was found '... καί τω άββά Παύλω ήγουμένω όντι της Μαρτυρίου 
Μονής...'. 

Euthymios, son of Dionysia and Pau­
los, was born at Melitene on the Euph­
rates in Lesser Armenia in A.D. 377. An 
austere character, he came to the Holy 
Land in A.D. 405 at the age of 29 as a 
young priest seeking solitude. After living 
in many places, he finally responded to a 
vision and settled on the site of the pre­
sent Monastery ruins. Euthymios is re­
garded as the founder of monasticism in 
the Wilderness of Judaea and his monas­
tery at Khan el-Ahmar as the parent-
house of all Palestinian monasteries, for 
which reason the Church has bestowed 
upon him the title 'the Great'. 

The history of the Monastery of St. 
Euthymios at Khan el-Ahmar is closely 
associated with that of the Holy City of 
Jerusalem and the other monasteries in 
the Judaean desert (see PEF Q. St. 1928 
pp. 134-139; 1932 pp. 188-190 for a sum­
mary). Here we confine ourselves to men­
tioning the most important events to help 
the reader appreciate the difficulties en­
countered in our investigation and the 
many unanswered questions: 

St. Euthymios, drawing by 
Christos Katsibinis after 
the mosaic in the Church of 
St. Mary Pammakaristos, 
Constantinople (Fethiye Ca-
mii, Istanbul). 
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5th Century A.D. 

A.D. 425-7, after a long period of wandering in the desert, during 
which he founded several monasteries, Euthymios and his disciple 
and compatriot Domitianos settled in a small cave on the plain, 
from where the Arab sheikh Aspebet founded the monastery out of 
gratitude to Euthymios for healing his son, converted to Christianity 
and erected the structures needed for a laura: a cistern, a bakery, sev­
eral cells and a small chapel. 

A.D. 428 this church was consecrated by the Patriarch of Jerusalem 
Juvenal. 

A.D. 456 two famous figures of Palestinian monasticism, Martyrios 
and Elias, came here as refugees from Nitria. 

The Empress Eudokia (423-460), who played a very important 
role in the life of the Church of Jerusalem and was a great admirer of 
St. Euthymios, died in A.D. 460. 

A.D. 466 St. Theoktistos, companion of St. Euthymios and super­
ior of the lower Laura, died. 

A.D. 473 St. Euthymios died at the age of 97. His body was buried 
temporarily and transferred three months later to a permanent vault­
ed tomb by the Patriarch of Jerusalem Anastasios. Between 479 and 
482, during the Patriarchate of Martyrios, Euthymios' Laura was 
converted by Fidos, a deacon of the church of Jerusalem, into a 
coenobium in accordance with the saint's instructions. Its new 
church was consecrated by the Patriarch Martyrios on May 7th, A.D. 
482. 

4. Montfaucon, in Analecta Graeca, Paris 1688 vol. 1, pp. 1-99; Cotelerius, in Monu-
menta Ecclesiae Graeca 1692, vol. IV pp. 1-99; Stein, Cyrille de Scythopolis Ana­
lecta Bollandiana LXII (1944), pp. [69-186; Augustinos Iordanites, Jerusalem 1913 
(in Greek) according to a codex from Sinai Monastery of 10th-11th century, No. 
524 of the Gardthausen catalogue of 1886: Βίος καί πολιτεία τοΰ οσίου πατρός ημών 
Ευθυμίου του Μεγάλου υπό Κυρίλλου τοΰ Σκυθοπολίτου κατά άρχαΐον πλήρες χειρ-
όγραφον Γ-ΙΑ' αιώνος άντιπαραβληθέν προς τό ήδη υπάρχον κεΐμενον του Κοτελ-
λερίου εκδίδοντος Αύγουστΐνον Μονάχου Ίορδανίτου, Έν Ίεροσολύμοις 1913. 

5. Pilgrimage of Abbot Daniel in Palestine Pilgrims' Texts Society IV London 1985· 
Pilgrimage of Joannes Phocas in the Holy Land in Palestine Pilgrims' Texts Society 
V; Phocas, Descriptio Terrae Sanctae §18, PG torn. 133 col. 949; Anonymi, De lo­
tis Sanctis, § 13 PG torn. 133 col. 988. 

6. Y. Magen and H. Hizmi, The Monastery of St. Martyrius at Ma'ale Adummim 
Qadmoniot 38, No. 3-4 (71-72) 1985, pp. 62-92; S. Vailhê, La Laure et le couvent 
de Saint Euthyme (425) Bessarione III (Roma 1897-8) pp. 209-225; Von Riess, Das 
Euthymiuskloster, die Peterskirche der Eudokia und die Laura Heptastomos in der 
Wuste Juda in ZDPV 15 (1892), pp. 212-233. 
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6th Century 

A.D. 516-521, a five-year famine struck the country; St. Sabas 
took charge of the monastery. 

A.D. 529, The Samaritans attacked the Christians in Palestine. 
A.D. 544 Cyril of Scythopolis came to the monastery and stayed 

there for eleven years till A.D. 555, when he went to Nea Laura. 
A.D. 557 Cyril of Scythopolis wrote the Life of St. Euthymios. 

7th Century 

AD. 613-614, during the Persian invasion or a little before, some 
of the monasteries of the wilderness were plundered and destroyed 
by a Saracen tribe and the rest by the Persians themselves. After this 
disaster, over a period of years up to A.D. 626, the Patriarch Modes-
tos resettled the dispersed monks in the ruined monasteries, bringing 
most of them back to life7, including the Monastery of St. Euthy­
mios. 

After the battle of the Yarmuk and the defeat of the Byzantine 
army the monks abandoned the monasteries in the vicinity of Jerusa­
lem, on the advice of the Patriarch Sophronios, and gathered inside 
the walls of the Holy City. They stayed there until the pact of 638, 
when the city's surrender was signed on the Mount of Olives bet­
ween the Khalif Omar Ibn Hattab and the Patriarch Sophronios. 
After A.D. 638 life soon returned to the abandoned and half-ruined 
monastery of St. Euthymios. We learn from a Syriac manuscript that 
it was destroyed in A.D. 659-660 by a violent earthquake8. 

8th Century 

During the eighth century the monastery is mentioned in connec­
tion with the following: a controversy between its superior Anasta-
sios and St. John of Damascus A.D. 730-740; two earthquakes; 738 

7. Καλλίστου Μηλιαρά, οι "Αγιοι Τόποι έν Παλαιστίνη καί τά έπ' αυτών δίκαια τοΰ Ελλη­
νικού έθνους Τόμ. 1, έν Ίεροσολύμοις 1928, σελ. 179. 

8. Revue de Γ Orient Chrétien IV, 1899, pp. 323-24; Maronite chronicle, éd. E.W. 
Brooks, in Chronica Minora 2 (Corpus Scr. Chr. Or,, Scr. Syri 3-4)· French transla­
tion from the Syriac by Nau. 
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and 748 A.D9; the life of St. Stephen the Sabaite; and the account of a 
Bedouin raid in 796 and the martyrdom of 20 monks at St. Sabas' 
Monastery10. During the period of the sons of Harun al Rashid (A.D. 
786-809) the monasteries in the vicinity of Jerusalem suffered consi­
derably as a consequence of internecine strife amongst the Arab 
tribes". During this period the Patriarch of Jerusalem Georgios (A.D. 
770-807) sought assistance from Charlemagne, who, according to 
Constantinos Porphyrogenitos12 'χρήματα ίκανά και πλοϋτον άφθο-
νον έν Παλαιστίνη άποστειλας, έδείματο μοναστήρια πάμπολλα'. 

9th Century 

A.D. 809 there were thirty monks at St. Euthymios' Monastery. 
We learn from Theophanes that during this year it was sacked, along 
with the Holy City and the other Monasteries of Ss. Chariton, Sabas 
and Theodosios13. 

A.D. 813 in his life of St. Stephen the Wonder-worker the learned 
monk Leontios refers to the Monasteries of Euthymios and Theoktis-
tos as being abandoned. 

A.D. 817-19. The monks of the Monastery of St. Euthymios, like 
those of the Monasteries of Ss. Sabas, Theodosios and Chariton, re­
ceived letters from Theodore the Studite, though we do not know if 
the Monastery was still functioning. 

10th Century 

No information about the monastery has come to light from this 
century. 

9. Theophanes Chronographia, P.G. t. 108 col. 852, 865 and in ed. C. De Boor p. 422: 
Τούτω τφ ετει έγένετο σεισμός μέγας έν Παλαιστίνη καί τω 'Ιορδάνη καί πάση τη 
Συρία μηνί Ίανουαρίω ιη', ώρα δ', καί πολλαΐ μυριάδες καί αναρίθμητοι τεθνήκασιν, 
έκκλησίαι τε καί μοναστήρια πεπτώκασιν, καί μάλιστα κατά την ερημον της άγιας 
πόλεως'. Ρ. 430': 'Τούτω τω έτει σεισμός γέγονε κατά τήν Παλαιστίνην καί Συρίαν 
οϋ μικρός μηνί Μαρτίω θ". 

10. Nea Sion, t. 10, p. 64. 
11. Theophanes Chronographia, P.G. t. 108 col. 973 and in ed. C. De Boor p. 484: 'έ­

νθεν δή καί αί κατά τήν άγίαν Χριστού τοΰ θεού ημών πόλιν έκκλησίαι 
ήρήμωνται, τά τε μοναστήρια τών δύο μεγάλων λαύρων, του έν άγίοις Χαρίτωνος 
καί Κυριακού, καί του αγίου Σάβα, καί τά λοιπά κοινόβια τών αγίων Ευθυμίου καί 
Θεοδοσίου'. 

12. Theophanes Chronographia, P.G. t. 113, col. 228-229 and in ed. Gy. Moravcsik -
R. Jenkins, Constantine Porphyrogenitus, De administrando Imperio, Dumbarton 
Oaks, 1967, chap. 26, p. 108. 

13. Theophanes Chronographia, ed. C, De Boor, pp. 422, 430. 
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11th Century 

The monastery is known to have been in use in circa A.D. 1000. 
St. Lazaros of the Galesian Mountain spent some time there follow­
ing his disgrace at St. Sabas' Monastery.14 

In A.D. 1009, the year of the destruction of the Church of the 
Holy Sepulchre by Hakim15, this monastery was probably also des­
troyed, since Christians were persecuted throughout Egypt and 
Palestine16. 

In A.D. 1017 the persecution was halted and Christians were per­
mitted to rebuild their churches and monasteries17. 

Among the terms stipulated by the Emperor in the treaty of 1030 
between Daher and Romanos III Argyros, was a clause that the 
Christians should be allowed to reconstruct all the destroyed 
churches and monasteries in the territory of Daher18. 

In A.D. 1037 this treaty was ratified anew by Michael IV and the 
Khalif Mustanser. The reconstruction works continued and were ex­
tended into the reign of the next emperor, Constantinos Monoma-
chos (A.D. 1042-1054). Under this treaty most of the destroyed 
churches and monasteries were restored. 

The last quarter of the 11th century was once more turbulent and 
by 1096 the Seljuks had conquered the whole of Palestine. Two years 
later, in 1098, the Egyptian Fatimids were installed in Jerusalem, 
only to be ousted in 1099 by the Crusaders who invaded Palestine 
and founded their kingdom of Jerusalem. 

During the Crusader period Western monastic orders had prece­
dence at the major shrines but not in the monasteries of the wilder­
ness, where the Eastern Orthodox Greek monks predominated. 

14. ASS. Nov. Ill, De Sancto Lazaro Monacho in monte Galesio, p. 514 § 17E: "Εξε-
λθών ούν έκ της τοΰ αγίου Σάβα μονής, προς τήν τού αγίου Ευθυμίου απήλθε'. 

15. L.H. Vincent et FM. Abel, Jérusalem Nouvelle. Recherche de Topographie, d' 
Archéologie et d' Histoire, Paris 1914-1926, p. 248. 

16. G. Kedrenos, Historiarum Compendium, ed. Bonnae, torn II, p. 456 and P.G. t. 
122, col. 233: 'Όγδοη δέ ίνδικτιώνι, έν έτει ςφιη' ό της Αιγύπτου κατάρχων Άζί-
ζιος διά μικράς αιτίας καί μηδενός λόγου προσκρούσματα άξια τάς προς Ρωμαίους 
λύσας σπονδάς τόν τε έν Ίεροσολύμοις έν τω Τάφω τού Σωτήρος Χριστού, άνεγη-
γερμένον πολυτελώς θείον ναόν κατεστρέψατο, καί τά ευαγή έλυμήνατο μοναστή­
ρια, καί τους έν τούτοις ασκούμενους απανταχού γης έφυγάδευσε'. 

17. Καλλίστου Μηλιαρά, Ot άγιοι τόποι έν Παλαιστίνη καί τά έπ' αυτών δίκαια τού 
'Ελληνικού Έθνους, τόμ. 1, έν Ίεροσολύμοις 1928, σελ. 258. 

18. Καλλίστου Μηλιαρά, see above p. 260. 
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12th Century 

A.D. 1107 the Russian Hegoumen Daniel visited the Monastery of 
St. Euthymios during his pilgrimage to the Holy Land19. He writes, 
T o the east of the Laura of St. Saba, only behind the mountain, is 
the Monastery of St. Euthymios three versts away, and there lies St. 
Euthymios, and many other holy fathers lie there, and their bodies 
are as those of living people. There is a little monastery on a level 
place, and about it are rocky mountains some distance off. The mon­
astery was embellished with a surrounding wall and the church was 
elevated'. My interpretation of the 'little monastery... with a sur­
rounding wall and an elevated church' of which he speaks is that the 
small chapel above the cemetery, or even the main church in its pre­
sent dimensions, existed at that time. 

The influence of the Byzantine Emperors upon the Holy Places 
and their mediation on behalf of the Eastern Orthodox communities 
and the monasteries commenced when the Crusader Kings turned to 
Byzantium for support: first,King Baldwin III (1144-1162) in his con­
flict with Nur ad-Din, ruler of Damascus, and then Amalric 
(1162-1173), who invaded Egypt with the support of Byzantine naval 
power. The Emperor Manuel Komnenos (1143-1180) is mentioned 
in a bilingual inscription in the wall mosaics in the Church of the 
Nativity in Bethlehem. He was also depicted in the wall mosaics of 
the Church of the Holy Sepulchre, circa 1162, which was renovated 
by the Crusaders in A.D. 1149. The monasteries of St. John the Bap­
tist beside the river Jordan, of the prophet Elias near Jerusalem, of 
St. Sabas in the Judaean desert and, although not mentioned by 
Ioannes Phokas in A.D. 1177, obviously also that of St. Euthymios, 
were renovated or at least decorated during this period. A note in a 
MS of St. John Chrysostom in the library of the Patriarchate in Jeru­
salem (St. Sabas Monastery, collection no.39), records that it was gi-

19. The Pilgrimage of the Russian Abbot Daniel in the Holy Land, 1106-M 07 A.D. in 
Palestine Pilgrims' Text Society IV, London 1895; Άρχαΐα Λατινικά, 'Ελληνικά, 
Ρωσσικά καί Γαλλικά τίνα οδοιπορικά ή προσκυνητάρια της 'Αγίας Γής, συλλε-
γέντα καί μεταφρασθέντα ύπό Κλεόπα Μ. Κοικυλίδου καί Ιωάννου Φωκυλίδου, έν 
Ίεροσολύμοις 1912, pp. 283-350; 'Zhitie i khozhdenie igumena Daniila iz russkoi 
zemli' (The Life and Journey of the Hegumen of the Russian Land Daniif). Pre­
paration of the text, translation and commentary by G. M. Pwkhorov. In Pamiat-
niki literatury drevnei Rusi, XII vek, L. A. Dmitriev and D. S. Likhachev, eds. 
24-115 (commentary, 627-45). M.: Khudozhestvennaia literatura, 1980. 
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ven to the Monastery of St. Euthymios by 'the great Komnenos',* 
and when the monastery was dissolved it was brought to the Holy 
Sepulchre ' t Ή τοιούτη βίβλος εστίν ψυχική δωρεά τού μεγάλου 
Κομνηνού εις τήν μονήν τοΰ οσίου πατρός ημών Ευθυμίου'20. The 
paintings on the piers and pilasters of the main church, the evidence 
of wall mosaics in both the chapel above the cemetery and the apses 
of the main church, as well as the marble pavement in the nave of 
the main church were, in my view, executed during this period. 
Ioannes Phokas in 1185 speaks of the monastery as being walled 
round with towers and great battlements. He also describes the 
tomb.21 

A.D. 1184-7. There is further evidence that the monastery was 
still in existence in the fact that the Iberian Hieromonk Gabriel, grie­
vously deceived by the devil at St. Sabas' Monastery, came to the 
Monastery of St. Euthymios circa 1185 and stayed there until Sal-
adin's conquest in 118722. 

13th Century 

St. Sabas, the Archbishop of Serbia who visited the Holy Land twice 
during the years 1225-1230 and 1233-1237, writes in his itinerary that 
during both his journeys he visited the Monastery of St. Euthymios but 
makes no further comment.23 

A.D. 1244. A horde of nomadic Turks, the Khwarezmians, whom 
the Ayyubid Sultan of Egypt had called in to help in his campaign 

* The title the great' was used by the kings of Trebizond. Therefore this manuscript 
was given to the Monastery of St. Euthymios built in Jerusalem by Anna the 
daughter of Alexios II Komnenos of Trebizond (1297-1330), as a gift from her father, 
and not by Manuel Komnenos (1143-1180) to the old Monastery, as Augustinos Ior-
danites writes in the introduction of his book, p. 16 (see above, p. 13 note 4). For Με­
γάλοι Κομνηνοί see Κωνσταντίνου Βαρζου, Ή Γενεαλογία τών Κομνηνών, τόμος Β', 
θεσσαλονίκη (Κέντρον Βυζαντινών Ερευνών) 1984, σελ. 28 σημ. 89 and τόμος Α', 
σελ. 97 σημ. 99. 

20. Α. Παπαδοπούλου - Κεραμέως, Ίεροσολυμιτική Βιβλιοθήκη τόμ. 2, έν Πετρουπόλει 
1894 σελ. 83. 

21. PG t 133 col. 949 §18 and Pilgrimage of Ioannes Phocas in the Holy Land in 
Palestine, Pilgrims' Texts Society V. 

22. Νεοφύτου πρεσβυτέρου μοναχού καί εγκλείστου, Αόγος περί τίνος μοναχού έν τη 
Παλαιστίνη κατά τό ςχ^γ' έτος, ίνδ. γ' μηνί σεπτεμβρίω παρά δαιμόνων άπατηθέν-
τος καί έκπεπτωκότος δεινώς, Anal. Boll. 26, 1907 pp. 171-2. 

23. The itinerary of St. Sabas (Archbishop of Serbia) 1225-1237, was published by the 
Palestinian Orthodox Society in St. Petersburg in 1884. See Καλλίστου Μηλιαρά, oi 
"Αγιοι Τόποι έν Παλαιστίνη καί τά έπ' αυτών δίκαια τοΰ 'Ελληνικού Έθνους, τόμ. 
1. σελ. 434. 
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against the Crusaders and their Ayyubid allies from Syria, entered 
and plundered Jerusalem and probably also the monasteries in its vi­
cinity. 

A.D. 1258 the Mongols overran Syria and Palestine. 
A.D. 1260 the Mamluks of Egypt defeated the Mongols. 
A.D. 1265-1277 the Circassian Mamluk Baibars al Malek az-Zahir 

and his successor Qalawun, who died in A.D. 1290, reduced the Cru­
sader strongholds piecemeal. Sultan Baibars seems either to have 
destroyed the monastery in order to clear the road for the Nebi Musa 
pilgrimage which he instituted or to have converted it into a khan 
for Muslim pilgrims going to the Nebi Musa shrine. Whatever the 
case, this explains why Anna, daughter of Alexios II Komnenos of 
Trebizond (1297-1330), founded a monastery of St. Euthymios in 
Jerusalem, which was renovated in A.D. 1344 and exists to the pre­
sent day, since the old one had been lost for good, if not completely 
destroyed24. It seems that during 'this century most of the Byzantine 
monuments hitherto preserved were destroyed by Muslim fanatics. 
The Patriarch of Jerusalem Dositheos (1669-1709), in his book 
about the patriarchs of Jerusalem of this time, writes25: 'This was the 
end of the Latins' struggles for Jerusalem... As a result the cities, 
towns and great population of the Christians of Syria, Phoenicia and 
Palestine were destroyed. And the churches, monasteries and most of 
the buildings of Jerusalem and even the Church of the Holy Se­
pulchre fell into ruin...' 'Τοιούτον τέλος ελαβον oi τών Λατίνων αγώ­
νες περί της 'Ιερουσαλήμ άπό χιλίων έννενήκοντα επτά έως χιλίων 
τριακοσίων οκτώ, ώστε άφανισθήναι τάς πόλεις καί χώρας καί τό 
πλήθος τών Χριστιανών τό έν τή Συρία, Φοινίκη καί Παλαιστίνη καί 
καταστραφήναι τάς εκκλησίας καί τά μοναστήρια καί τάς πλείονας 
οίκοδομάς της 'Ιερουσαλήμ καί αυτόν τόν άγιον Τάφον καί τόν Ναόν 
αύτου, καί άφαιρεθήναι τήν εύπρέπειαν αυτών, καί γενέσθαι ώς έρεί-
πιον...'. 

Kallistos Miliaras26 writes along the same lines: the desert monas-

24. Α. Παπαδοπούλου - Κεραμέως, 'Ανάλεκτα Ίεροσολυμιτικής Σταχυολογίας, τόμ. Α', 
σελ. 245 σημ. 1 and τόμ. Β', σελ. 255-257. 

25. Δοσιθέου Πατριάρχου 'Ιεροσολύμων, 'Ιστορία περί τών έν Ίεροσολύμοις Πατριαρχ-
ευσάντων, διηρημένη μέν έν δώδεκα βιβλίοις, αρχομένη δέ άπό Ιακώβου τού 
Άδελφοθέου... Συγγραφεΐσα μέν παρά τοΰ έν Μακάρια τη λήξει γενομένου άγιω-
τάτου καί άοιδίμου Πατριάρχου τών 'Ιεροσολύμων κ.κ. Δοσιθέου, κοσμηθεΐσα δέ, 
καί έν τάξει αρίστη τεθείσα παρά τοΰ μακαριότατου Πατριάρχου τών 'Ιεροσο­
λύμων κ.κ. Χρύσανθου έν Βουκουρεστίω τω της Ούγγροβλαχίας Αύθεντικώ θρόνφ 
έν έτει χιλιοστω έπτακοσιοστώ δεκάτω πέμπτω κατά μήνα Όκτώβριον, σελ. 836. 

26. Καλλίστου Μηλιαρά, οι "Αγιοι Τόποι... τόμος Α', σελ. 470. 
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teries suffered badly at the hands of the tent Bedouins and finding no 
support from the weak and impoverished patriarchate they were gra­
dually deserted... '... Τά έν τη έρήμω μοναστήρια πάσχοντα δεινώς έκ 
τών επιδρομών τών σκηνιτών Βεδουίνων καί μή εύρίσκοντα 
ύποστήριξιν έκ μέρους τού αδυνάτου καί πτωχού Πατριαρχείου 
βαθμηδόν καί κατ' ολίγον ήρημούντο...'. 

14th Century 

In his book, θέατρον της 'Αγίας Γης ρ. 566 note έ, Neophytos 
the Cypriot (1775?-1861)27 writes about an old icon of the Theotokos 
which was found in the ruins of the Monastery of St. Euthymios dur­
ing the 14th century and was brought to Jerusalem, where it was 
placed in the Metochion of this monastery: 'Μία εΐκών αρχαία της 
Θεοτόκου ευρεθείσα εις τά ερείπια τοΰ έν τή έρήμω τού 'Ιορδανού 
μοναστηρίου του αγίου Ευθυμίου... έπί σανίδος μεγέθους ενός καί 
ημίσεως πήχεως κατά τήν ιδ' εκατονταετηρίδα καί κομισθεισα εντεύ­
θεν ετέθη έν τω 'Ιερουσαλήμ ποτέ μετοχΐφ της Μονής ταύτης'28. 

More about the situation of the history of the Church and the 
dreadful persecutions against the Christians of Syria and Palestine 
during the 14th Century is described by Kallistos Miliaras (Οί "Αγιοι 
Τόποι τόμος A' pp. 473 ff. and especially pp. 479-480). 

In the following centuries the Monastery οι St. Euthymios is 
mentioned in several proskynetaria (pilgrims' accounts)29, though 
without any specific description, as being located 6 miles east of 
Bethany (see the Proskynetarion of Symeon30, who also gives a 
sketch of it with crosses on the domes), though we are of the opinion 
that it was already ruined at that time. According to local tradition, 

27. Γιάννη Ε. Μεϊμάρη, Νεόφυτος ό Κύπριος καί άλλοι Κύπριοι κωδικογράφοι, συγ­
γραφείς, αντιγραφείς, συλλογείς καί κτήτορες κωδίκων της Ίεροσολυμιτικής Βιβ­
λιοθήκης in Πρακτικά Β' Διεθνούς Κυπρολογικού Συνεδρίου, Λευκωσία 1986. τό­
μος Β', σελ. 427. 

28. Αυγουστίνου Ίορδανίτου, Βίος καί Πολιτεία τοΰ 'Οσίου Πατρός ημών Ευθυμίου τού 
Μεγάλου ύπό Κυρίλλου Σκυθοπολίτου έν Ίεροσολύμοις 1913, πρόλογος σελ. ιη '. 

29. Anonymi De locis Sanctis §13 P.G. 133 col. 988 'καί μέσα εις τόν δρόμον έναι (sic) 
ή βρύσις τών 'Αποστόλων, καί εις ολίγον τόπον έναι τό μοναστήριον τού αγίου 
Ευθυμίου, καί έναι επάνω εις όρος, απέχει άπό τήν 'Ιερουσαλήμ μίλια ιε'... 

30. Προσκυνητάριον της αγίας πόλεως 'Ιερουσαλήμ καί πάσης Παλαιστίνης... παρά 
τού πανοσιωτάτου άρχιμανδρίτου... Συμεών έν Βιέννε της Άουστρίας 1749 σελ. 40. 
"Άνωθεν δέ τής Βηθανίας κατ' ανατολάς είναι ή οδός τού 'Ιορδανού, καί ώς μίλια 
έξη είναι τό μοναστήριον τού αγίου Ευθυμίου...'. 
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when the villagers defended themselves by attacking and vanquish­
ing the Bedouins, the ruins of the monastery were taken over by the 
people of Siloam and remained in their hands until the end of the 
British Mandate in the territory. 

It is clear that this famous monastery, the parent-house of all 
Palestinian Monasteries, continued to await the renewed presence of 
Orthodox monks; it was worthy of a better fate. 

In 1928-30 the ruined monastery was partially excavated. After 
the 1967 war between Israel, Egypt, Jordan and Syria, during which 
the West Bank of Jordan came under Israeli control31, the area sur­
rounding the ruined monastery was chosen by the government of Is­
rael for urban development. In 1976 the writer applied to the ar­
chaeological staff officer of Judaea and Samaria to undertake a series 
of rescue excavations in order to preserve this historic site. After se­
veral visits to the site, a brief search through the records of the De­
partment of Antiquities, study of Chitty's material of 1928-30 and 
the inspectors' records of 1927, 1928, 1931, 1945, the writer decided 
to clear the previously excavated main church and cemetery blocks 
which had suffered from erosion, illicit excavations, wars and the Be­
douins. We also planned to restore and strengthen some of its walls, 
support the collapsed parts of vaults, restore and strengthen the mo­
saic and opus sectile floor and, time and budget permitting, to make 
some soundings in previously unexcavated areas in order to resolve 
some of the existing problems. The work was conducted on behalf of 
the Israeli Department of Antiquities and Museums, which paid the 
expenses, and the Archaeological Section of the West Bank Military 
Government which, as mentioned above, granted me the permit and 
provided me with a land surveyor, a conservator and a car driver for 
the first and second season from its staff32. In my work I was assisted 
by students from the Ecole Biblique, the Tantur Ecumenical Insti­
tute, the Studium Biblicum Franciscanum and several volunteers. 
The excavations were financed in the last season by MISSIO (Inter­
nationales Katholisches Missionswerk of Germany) after the kind re­
commendation of the Rev. Johannes Diising. Workers employed in­
cluded Bedouins, mainly from two families, the Jahaleel and Abu 
Dahuk, as well as from Jericho, among them several with long ex­
perience on archaeological digs. The seasons were October 11th to 

31. See Charles Harbutt, Eyewitness to war in the Holy Land, National Geographic 
Magazine vol. 132, No. 6, December 1976, pp. 782-797. 

32. For a brief report on 1976 excavations see Hadashot Arkheologiyot No. 59-60, Oc­
tober 1976 (in Hebrew). 
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31th in 1976, April 7th to 25th in 1977, June 20th to July 20th in 
1978 and September 1st to 21st in 1979. Simultaneously I started 
correspondence with Mrs Chitty, the Palestine Exploration Fund in 
London and Dr. Sebastian Brock, librarian of the House of Ss. Gre­
gory and Macrina at Oxford, where the archives of the late D.J. 
Chitty were kept. In 1987 I had the opportunity to work on them in 
Oxford. Dr. S. Brock tells me that these archives, including the draw­
ings and some of the finds, have now been handed over to the Ash-
molean Museum, Oxford. 

Works executed at the Main Church block 

After careful surface survey, during which we collected several 
unexploded artillery shells3', we started cleaning and re-excavating34 

the main church, both the central vault below and the floor of the 
main church above. 

a. The central vault below. This room had already been excavat­
ed (see PEF Q. St. 1930 pp. 46, 47 pi. II). Originally this was the site 
of the small church of the laura, later becoming the refectory when 
the laura was replaced by the coenobium. 

Our first task was to remove the recently built walls and empty 
the whole room of stones and debris which had accumulated over 
the past 47 years, during which time it had been used as a sheepfold 
and stable by the Silwan villagers and the Bedouins. The floor had 
suffered very little damage and was restored at the edges and in those 
places where it was preserved. All that remained of the greatest part 
of its surface was the pebble stone bedding of the white mosaic floor 
which extends to the eastern end of the vault. After clearing the 
room, a rough reinforcement wall was built at the present entrance, 
in order to support the vault at its western end, and an iron gate in­
stalled. It was then used as a storage room for the larger architectural 
fragments found during the excavations which could not be tran­
sported to the Department of Antiquities" storerooms in Jerusalem. 

b. The south vault below the south aisle of the church (figs 3, 4). 
This was not cleaned at all. The only measures taken were to rebuild 
the collapsed walls of the vault at its western end in order to support 

33. After 1948 the area was used as an army training field. 
34. The Main Church was excavated in 1928-30. See DJ. Chittv and A.H.M. Jones 

PEFQ. St. 1928 pp. 175-176. 
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what was left of the fine mosaics above, which now rest on a 
strengthened intra-structure. 

c. The north vault below the north aisle of the church. Although 
we had hoped to work in the old barrel-vault of fine ashlar below the 
prothesis, in order to elucidate some problems left unsolved by the 
1928-30 excavators (see PEF Q. St. 1928 p. 178; 1930 p. 44), this was 
not possible because of the great danger of collapse and the lack of 
any means of support. Thus, the north and south vaults under the 
church remain unexplored. 

The uncovering of the floor of the Main Church. 

One of our basic aims was to uncover the church floor in order to 
relieve the over-loaded vaults. In their effort to protect the floor the 
1928-30 excavators had covered this with a fill of stone and earth 
0.75 cm. deep (fig. 5). We also aimed to check the condition of the 
mosaics and marble pavement, to restore, draw and photograph the 
existing opus sectile mosaic and red cemented areas. To this end we 
began re-excavating the church in the sanctuary area of the altar 
space, which was two steps higher than the general level of the 
church. The floor was found almost completely destroyed except for 
a few remnants of a kind of red cement pavement, similar to that of 
the western bay of the nave. The stones with sockets to receive a low 
stone chancel screen of panels and balusters, which once divided the 
sanctuary from the nave, had been disturbed and some were missing. 
We were able to identify two of these stones and consequently res­
tore them to their original position. Fine but badly damaged mosaics 
were also found. In the centre of the prothesis the remains of three 
small stone columns marking the location of a tripod table were 
found depicted on the mosaic; between these was a cross, see PEF 
Q.St. 1932 pp. 194-199 and figs 6, 1, here. 

The central aisle. The floor between the step below the presbyte-
rion and the end of the central piers was paved in opus sectile tech­
nique and coarse mosaics (figs 8, 9, 9a, 9b), and that from the end of 
the central piers to the edge of the central aisle in a reddish -
coloured cement. All these types of flooring were found in relatively 
good condition. 

The north aisle. Nothing was preserved of the mosaic floor from 
the step to the prothesis westwards owing to weathering (fig. 10). 

The south aisle. After replacing three missing stones on the step 
leading to the diaconicon (length 80 cm.) (figs 11, 12, 12a) we noticed 
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a continuous range of a fairly well preserved fine mosaic pavement, 
running westwards from this step (figs 8, 12, 12a, 13, 14, 15, 16, 17, 
18, 18a). The entire floor of the church was washed with water, the 
gaps from missing marble, coloured stones and tesserae were filled 
with a mixture of cement and sand, in proportion 1:5, and further 
deterioration was curtailed by placing a border around the edge of 
the existing mosaics, of a similar mixture though with a higher pro­
portion of cement (fig. 18b). The floor of the church was left unco­
vered for almost two years since we anticipated roofing the main 
church in order to preserve it. When we failed to attract attention to 
the need to save this wonderful work of art, a row of stones was built 
around its periphery and the floor was covered with sand (figs 19, 
20). 

Nothing remained of the traces of frescoes on those piers and pi­
lasters on the south aisle described in 1928-30, apparently dating to 
the last period of the monastery, since the piers had been destroyed 
almost to the ground and the pilasters of the south wall were without 
any plaster coat (figs 3, 5). Remains of frescoes were located on some 
stones, notably in the lower row of the apses and the pilaster on the 
right side close to the diaconicon apse. The 
photographs of wall-paintings presented 
here are taken from colour drawings in the 
archives of D.J. Chitty in Oxford (see figs 
21, 22) and those of fragments are from 
wall-painting fragments found in the de­
bris in different parts of the monastery and 
belonging to different periods (figs 23, 24, 
24a). There are thirteen drawers of such 
fragments in the storerooms of the Depart­
ment of Antiquities. The shield of the mi­
litary saint (fig. 21) is a typical elongated 
Norman shield, rounded at the top and 
pointed at the bottom. The border has a 
frame-like decoration and the inner motif 
consists of a cross in the middle with de­
coration only in the two opposing trian­
gles. (For a shield of similar shape see the 
column paintings of the Church of the 
Nativity at Bethlehem, 12th century A.D.)35. 

A Saint's head, drawing 
by Christos Katsibinis 
after a fresco, now in the 
Rockefeller museum, Je­
rusalem (see fig. 23). 

35. Gustav Kuhnel, Wall painting in the Latin Kingdom of Jerusalem, Berlin 1988, 
pp. 112-125, pi. 33, 35. 
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The sacristy south of the church (fig. 25) 

To the south of the church at a higher level, the excavators of 
1928-3036 found a small room, the walls of which seem to be con­
temporary with the outside walls of the present church. The only en­
trance to this room was from the church. Its floor, as well as the in­
ner face of the walls, was plastered, while on its exterior the wall 
stones were pointed with white plaster bearing the characteristic im­
prints of a trowel (fig. 26) similar to that found in many other parts 
of the monastery. The western part of this room was occupied by a 
built 'bed-like' bench of thickly plastered ashlar stones about 0.33 
cm high, posterior to the plaster surface of the walls and the floor 
(figs 27, 28). The position of this room, its access only from inside 
the church, its form, the bench along its western wall, the two cup­
boards flanking the entrance in its north wall (which no longer exist), 
the existing sockets in the stones at the entrance which once received 
a door, all suggest that this was an important room for liturgical use, 
or that it was upon the 'bed-like' bench that the reliquary containing 
the relics of the saint was placed during a period when the cemetery 
block was out of use. 

Soundings made at the easternmost end of the southeast corner 
outside the Main Church. In the course of clearing at a lower level, a 
collapsed vaulted room, orientated east-west, was uncovered at the 
southeast corner outside the church. This room had no door leading 
into the church, and its walls were clearly of later date than those of 
the church (see figs 25, 29). Amongst the fallen stones we found sev­
eral fresco fragments. Fragments of architectural members and a 
quantity of late Arabic pottery sherds were also found in the debris 
of this room, whose relationship to the badly ruined buildings to the 
south of the church cannot be elucidated, since excavations were not 
continued here. 

The small vaulted burial chamber under the sacristy north of the 
prothesis of the Main Church. Looking from the east towards the 
ruins, I noticed the existence of a smaller vault to the north of the 
large vault under the prothesis (fig. 30). The latter contains a tomb 
chamber with two trough burials (fig. 31), described by Chitty (PEF 
Q. St. 1930 pp. 44-45 and 1932 pp. 192-194 pi. II). Our vault was 
first cleared from the outside, along the eastern wall (fig. 32), and 

36. PEFQSt. 1930 p. 46. 
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then the chamber beneath the vault was carefully emptied37, entering 
through its eastern wall. This chamber runs east-west (fig. 33) and is 
164 cm. deep, 170 cm. wide and about 2 m. long. It has a cemented 
floor in good condition and the entrance from the west wall, about 1 
metre above the floor, is blocked by collapsed stones (fig. 34). Al­
though this burial chamber is at a different level from that under the 
large vault, I believe that they are related. This chamber also resem­
bles the small subterranean chapel at the laura of St. Chariton at Ain 
Farah, believed to be St. Chariton's tomb38. At the end of our exca­
vations, the eastern wall of the vault was built up as a protective 
measure. These two vaulted burial chambers belong to the earliest 
stages of the monastery. 

No soundings were made directly beside the west front of the 
main church, which was only cleared (for this area see fig. 35 and 
PEF Q.St. 1930 p. 46, 1932 p. 199 pi. II). 

The cemetery block (figs 36, 25, 37, 38) 

a. The main burial chamber. This is a fine barrel - vaulted room 
running north - south (see DJ. Chitty PEF Q. St. 1932 pp. 200f). 
Our first task was to clear the accumulated debris in order to reach 
the stage at which the previous excavators had stopped work. During 
the clearing operation evidence of a considerable disturbance, due to 
illegal excavations, was revealed, e.g., the remains of the altar (fig. 
39) found by DJ. Chitty (see PEF Q. St. 1928 p. 177, 1930 pp. 152-3) 
had been removed and only a slight trace of it was found, mainly be­
cause we knew that the altar stood equidistant from the flanking 
niches (fig. 40); two stones were missing from the eastern wall, above 
the position of the altar, forming a hole 0.97 cm. long by 0.35 cm. 
high and about 60cm. deep; the floor paving was badly disturbed as 
well as the openings to the niches and especially the plastered pas­
sage floor of the small chamber behind the prothesis niche. In gener­
al the floor was found covered in part by flagstones and where these 
had been removed, by packed earth. The flagstones used for paving 
were still intact and in situ along the south and west walls from cor-

37. In the upper level we found three skeletons of young men with cartridges of anti­
aircraft machine guns. 1 suggest that they belong to young soldiers killed in the 
June 1967 war. We reburied them east of the ruins. 

38. O. Meinardus, Notes on the Laurae and Monasteries of the Wilderness of Judaea, 
Studii Biblici Franciscani, Liber Annuus XV (1964-65) pp. 226-227. 
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ner to corner and extended at least 1 metre towards the centre of the 
room. In both niches and at the level of the third row of stones from 
the floor, a slot was observed on either side of the opening. In it rest­
ed the stone slab on which the holy vessels were placed (figs 40, 41). 
Remains of fresco, in red, blue and black on white background, were 
found along the base of the north wall and behind the base of the al­
tar in the southeast corner of the chamber (figs 43, 39, 40). Several 
oblong stones resting upon the floor in the southeast corner once 
formed a small construction (perhaps a small altar?). The stones 
lined both walls of the corner and extended outwards for about 1 
metre on either side. This small construction obscured the wall-
paintings behind (remains of which were preserved intact 10 cm. 
high and 20cm. long in red, blue and black on a white background); 
it may have served the needs of the monks when the tomb chamber 
was transformed into a church at a period when the main church of 
the monastery had been destroyed either by a natural disaster or by 
human agency. In the course of removing the stones some bone frag­
ments were found, perhaps associated with the dedication of the al­
tar39. A large fragment of a soft stone 32x13, 5x29 and 13 cm. thick 
(see fig. 44) with a cavity 1cm. deep, which looks like a matrix and in 
which I believe a precious double-armed cross was kept, was also 
found here. For a hypothetical restoration of it see (fig. 45). 

The double-armed cross, which originated in the eastern part of 
the Byzantine Empire, is depicted on coins during the 9th century 
A.D. and becomes common from the 10th century onwards. It repre­
sents the shape of the Holy Wood 'τό σχήμα του τιμίου ξύλου'40. The 

39. See Συμεών τοΰ Μακαρίου Αρχιεπισκόπου θεσσαλονίκης, κατά αιρέσεων καί περί 
της μόνης ορθής τών Χριστιανών ημών πίστεως... έν Γιασίφ της Μολδοβίας 1683, 
ρ. 125 '... καί ύπό τήν τράπεζαν ώς θεμέλιους ταύτα τά λείψανα κατατίθησιν, ότι 
καί είσΐ, καί χωρίς εκείνων ούκ εστίν ίερουργεΐν...'. 

40. See Ευγενίου Μ. Αντωνιάδου, Έκφρασις τής 'Αγίας Σοφίας, 'Αθήναι 1908, τόμος 
Β', σελ. 149-151, and 111-114. After the Cross of Jesus Christ was found (accord­
ing to tradition, by the Empress Helena in A.D. 326) a portion of it was kept in 
Jerusalem and other portions sent to Constantinople and other cities of the Chris­
tian world. After the Persians invaded Palestine, the Holy Cross containing the 
portion of the Holy Wood was taken by them as booty to their country. In A.D. 
630 Heraclius, after defeating the Persians, brought back the Holy Cross to Jerusa­
lem. In A.D. 636, after the defeat of the Byzantine army by the Arabs at the river 
Yarmuk, Heraclius, fearing for the fate of Jerusalem, took it with him to Constan­
tinople, as Theophanes in his Chronography says; see ed. C. De Boor p. 337 or 
PG. t. 108, p. 692"Ηράκλειος δέ τήν Συρίαν καταλιπών ώς άπελπίσας, άρας καί τά 
τίμια ξύλα άπό 'Ιερουσαλήμ επί τήν Κωνσταντινουπολιν άπήει\ 
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malicious efforts of plunderers to remove this precious cross from 
the matrix are evident on the remaining parts of the stone, which are 
badly scarred. Such a suggestion deserves serious consideration in 
the light of the following passage from the Saint's Life (ed. Schwartz 
p. 69, 6-11): We had in the diaconicon some pieces of the precious 
wood of the all-holy Cross, presented to the monastery at one time 
by the Guardians of the Cross Cosmas and Chrysippos [both brothers 
of the monastery]. The Abbot Stephanos (534-543) had them insert­
ed in the gold and gem-studded cross with which he furnished the 
monastery. When Caesarius learnt of this, he said, Tor God's sake, 
may we be made worthy to venerate it!' 'άκουσας ότι εχομεν έν τω 
διακονικφ μερίδας τινάς τού τιμίου ξύλου τοϋ πανσέπτου σταυρού, 
άσπερ τφ μοναστηρίω Κοσμάς τε και Χρύσιππος οί σταυροφύλακες 
(both brothers of St. Euthymios Monastery) κατά καιρούς έδωρήσαν-
το, έξ ων μερίδων ό ηγούμενος Στέφανος (534-543) ένέβαλεν εις τόν 
παρ' αυτού γεγονότα τω μοναστηρίω σταυρόν όλόχρυσόν τε και διά-
λιθον, είπεν ό Καισάριος· διά τόν Κύριον, άξιωθώμεν προσκυνή-
σαι...' It is also possible that in such a stone the cross with its frag­
ments of the holy wood was kept safe, especially on days when the 
fragments were displayed for public veneration. Noteworthy too was 
the reverence of the monks who, after the sacking of the monastery, 
salvaged the sanctified piece of stone and placed it in the foundation 
of this sacred altar. 

In the main burial chamber (figs 41, 46) the central empty grave 
for one body (the orientation of which deviates slightly from the rest 
of the chamber and the sides of which are formed by large slabs set 
upright and on edge) was cleaned, as well as another tomb northeast 
of the central one, this time for multiple burials, and a pit in which 
many bones were accumulated. The latter two were underground 
and covered by stone slabs. All these structures had been opened and 
described by D. J. Chitty in PEF Q. St. 1930 pp. 152-153. After pho­
tographing and drawing the floor (figs 47, 47a) we decided to remove it in 
order to have a complete picture of the chamber. This floor, 0.35cm. 
thick, consisted of stone slabs, in some places still in situ, and rubble, 
found to contain numerous fresco fragments presumably from the 
wall-paintings which once decorated the chamber, and fragments of 
stone and marble architectural members. The removal of the paved 
floor and rubble fill revealed six more graves roofed by flagstones 
(see figs 41, 48). Only two of these were opened; that occupying the 
northwest corner of the chamber (fig. 49) during the 1976 season, 
and that occupying the southeast corner (fig. 50) during the 1977 sea­
son. Both were filled with earth and several skeletons were piled on 
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top of each other, resembling the one described by D. J. Chitty (see 
PEF Q.St. 1930 pp. 152-153), the only difference being in the numb­
er of burials. After study of these graves the bones were replaced and 
covered with the same flag-stones. There were no associated finds. 

In the main burial chamber one of the six slanting rectangular 
holes, three on each side in the roof of the vault, was inspected. In 
this hole (the middle one of the west side, see figs 35, 36a, 38) re­
mains of painted plaster were found. These appear to have served as 
windows at some time but were rendered redundant when the small 
chapel was built above. 

While working at the western side of the burial chamber, halfway 
along the wall and at a depth of 15cm. below the painted plaster line 
and 10cm below the paved floor, we came across a smooth reddish 
flagstone 0.88 χ 0.60 cm. (fig. 46) blocking a passage leading into a 
new vaulted burial chamber (fig. 51). Inscribed on the reddish flag­
stone was the Greek capital letter Τ and the abbreviation sign S, an 
abbreviation of the Greek word 'τάφος', tomb. If my suggestion is 
correct then this stone, although it fits this opening, was used here 
for a second time and is in fact the original tombstone 'πλάκα', of St. 
Euthymios' tomb, 'θήκη', sent for this purpose by the Archbishop of 
Jerusalem Anastasios (see Schwartz p. 61, 23) '... ό δέ αρχιεπίσκοπος 
προπέμψας τήν τε έπικειμένην πλάκα...'). The flagstone found at St. 
Martyrios' Monastery covering the tomb of the Abbot Paulos was of 
the same quality41. Smaller stones were placed along the sides of the 
reddish flagstone to block the empty space and prevent soil from fall­
ing into the passage below. Among these stones was a quite large 
piece of white marble bearing a fragmentary Greek inscription the 
original text of which was, I think, changed at a later period to serve 
the needs of another person (fig. 52). If my reading is correct, then 
the first person mentioned, in the genitive case, is Petros, the famous 
Arab phylarch and convert to Christianity who built and decorated 
the first church of the laura out of gratitude to St. Euthymios. The 
second name, also in the genitive case, is that of a certain Theodou-
los whose connection with the church and the history of the monas­
tery has not yet been determined. This fragment could have come 
from the chancel screen of the church of the laura. I suggested the 
following reading of this inscription: 

41. Y. Magen and H. Hizmi, The monastery of St. Martyrius at Maale Adummim, 
Qadmoniot 18, No 3-4 (71-72) 1985 p. 65. 
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...υεος Πέτρου όσι... -- v ' iHi -· * I '=- JL A ^ V -'" original text 

p w ; y?!̂ »̂  M additions and changes of char-
...υεος Θε(ω) δούλου όσι... -Ci i'VjkSA M* acters in Theodoulos' time 

I (Q A ^ Of/"* "?1vR Si A. "' ? t e x t a ^ e r t n e intervention as 
i f e y i O- V/l&LXv U \ J it is on the marble fragment 

The western vaulted burial chamber (fig. 41). This new burial 
chamber, which also runs north-south, is at a lower level, about 60 
cm. below that of the main burial chamber. It has a window for ven­
tilation and light in the roof see (figs 38, 42 nos 6, 53, 54) and mea­
sures 8.50m. in length, 2.40m. in width and about 3.50m. high. The 
passage leading into the chamber continues towards the western 
wall, thus dividing the chamber into two parts (see fig. 41 no 6): a 
small sector on the left (fig. 55) as we enter and a large one on the 
right. This division of the chamber presumably indicates that monks 
of a higher rank were interred in the small one, and in the other the 
ordinary monks. On first entering this well-preserved vaulted 
chamber (fig. 51 ) we noticed that the floor was covered with a layer 
of centuries-old solidly packed dried mud, 0.15-0.20 cm. thick. From 
its cracked surface skulls and bones protruded, laid against the west 
wall in the traditional manner of Orthodox burial so that at the Se­
cond Coming the dead shall rise facing east, towards the sun, the 
symbol of Christ. Our first task was to open the ventilation and light 
window (figs 38, 37, 56), which was sealed with a stone, removable 
only from above, in order to admit light and fresh air. We then pro­
ceeded to clear the entrance passage down to the level of the original 
floor, in order to facilitate access to the chamber (fig. 57). Finally, a 
transverse trench was excavated to permit study of the burials (fig. 
54). The vault was perfectly constructed and very well preserved. 
The north and south wall, as well as the lower parts of the east and 
west walls, were covered with white plaster (fig. 57). The burials 
were very simple inhumations. The corpse had been wrapped in a 
monk's habit and placed on the floor next to thé previous burial. 
There are two possible explanations for the accumulation of mud. 
Either it accumulated over the years, intruding through holes in the 
wall or, more probably, the monks covered the corpse with a thin 
layer of earth, although the monastic burial tradition still observed at 
the Monastery of St. Sabas does not use earth at all. The use of cof­
fins is not attested. Some of the surface bones were removed by ex­
perts and examined at the laboratories of the Department of Ana-
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tomy and Embryology of the Hadassah Medical School of the He­
brew University of Jerusalem. There follows a report received from 
Dr. Patricia Smith. 'The Hebrew University October 16, 1977. Some 
general observations after examining the bones taken from the sur­
face layer of the western burial chamber. 1. Of the 25 specimens exa­
mined, all except one appear to have lived to a ripe old age (50). The 
one exception was aged 25-30. 2. All individuals identified were 
male. 3. Both long bones and cranial bones were robust and very 
thick: the parietal in one specimen was 11 mms thick in the middle. 
4. Despite the advanced age, there was very little pathology; the low 
intensity of arthritic changes in the vertebrae and long bones was 
striking'. These bones were finally tranferred to the Wady El-Qilt 
Monastery on June 14, 1978. There they are kept in a specially pre­
pared wooden casket with thick glass cover in the church of the 
monastery. 

The method of vault construction, of fine ashlar, in both burial 
chambers is the same as that in the other two vaulted burial chamb­
ers, viz., that below the prothesis (see PEF Q.St. 1928 p. 178) of the 
main church and the one adjacent to it, below the sacristy. The only 
difference is in their orientation. These remains display the best 
workmanship in the entire excavated area, with the sole exception of 
the monumental cistern to the east of the monastery (see PEF Q.St. 
1932 p. 190 pi. IV1), and are certainly the oldest works attributable 
to building works of 479-482. These were executed under the super­
vision of the deacon Fidos, who employed an engineer, expert crafts­
men and a host of labourers (see Schwartz p. 64, 15-21). The disco­
very of the western burial chamber, which seems architecturally to 
belong to the same cemetery block, raises the question of whether it 
was in use contemporaneously with the main burial chamber, or was 
used after the main burial chamber had been filled and converted 
into a church to serve liturgical purposes. The second case seems to 
be the more probable, taking into consideration the following: a. the 
fact that the main burial chamber was transformed into a church; b. 
the monks had easy access to the opening because this was just 0.5 
cm. below the pavement, while the tombs of the main burial chamb­
er were 0.35 cm. below the same pavement; c. there was an indenta­
tion on the wall four courses of stones above the opening (see fig. 
46), which was known only to the monks, indicating the position of 
the opening below (such an indentation also exists on the east wall 
above the altar, see figs 39, 40); and finally d. the archaeological 
findings in the passage to the western burial chamber and the stone 
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blocking the ventilation and light window give an ante quern date at 
the end of the 6th century and a post quern date for use of the 
chamber in the first half of the 8th century A.D. Restoration and pro­
tective measures were taken throughout the work at the cemetery 
block. E.g., in the main chamber the damaged walls of the tombs and 
the pit excavated by the 1928 team were restored, the hole (height 
0.35 cm χ length 0.97 cm.) on the east wall, 0.65 cm. above the pave­
ment, was repaired (fig. 40), the entrances to the niches were res­
tored, the north wall was strengthened both internally and external­
ly, the slanting window, as well as the ventilation window of the west 
burial chamber opened by us, was closed with the stone removed. 
The opening in the south wall, through which we worked and which 
turned out to be a slanting window, was prepared to receive an iron 
grille, the ground level of the court which sloped towards the main 
burial chamber was filled in and raised by several cms as a precau­
tionary measure against possible rain damage and finally, this open­
ing was built up from the outside (figs 58, 58a). Thus after it had 
been cleaned, studied and restored, the cemetery was sealed on all 
sides out of respect for the holy men resting there. I hope it will 
never be exposed for tourism. 

Areas above and around the cemetery. As was noted above, after 
the discovery of the western burial chamber we had to clear the over­
lying debris in order to open the window providing ventilation and 
light (fig. 56). This area was west of the chapel over the main burial 
chamber, where a collapsed vaulted corridor of a later period was 
found (see PEF Q. St. 1930 p. 152). The floor of this corridor was 
paved in places with stone flags and coarse white mosaic, a small 
section of which had to be removed in order to open the ventilation 
window (see fig. 37). This corridor connected the church with the 
cemetery via a staircase at its southern end, now blocking access to 
the cistern court, and another roofed staircase at its northeast end 
which runs eastwards and then southwards into the cemetery (figs 36, 
25, 59). 

The corridor also connects the two courts through a square door­
way at its north end opening on to a passage of contemporary date. 
Originally the corridor was unroofed. Among the fallen stones sever­
al flat sloping roof slabs, which once roofed the staircase leading 
down to the cemetery, were found. Three of these stones were in situ 
during the 1929 excavations (fig. 60). The southwestern end of the 
wall of the corridor collapsed during our excavations as a result of 
heavy rain. In order to obviate further collapse a temporary support-
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ing wall was built. The edges of the extant coarse mosaic were also 
repaired and reinforced, the ventilation window closed with its 
stone. The stones of the east wall had been pointed with white plas­
ter with the characteristic imprints of a trowel similar to those found 
on the walls of the main church and the south wall of the small 
tower west of this. These characteristic trowel imprints could be of 
the same period (fig. 26). 

In order to conclude our investigation in the cemetery block we 
had to clear away the debris and fallen stones from the small chapel 
on top. The access to it poses a problem since the door on the west 
wall is out of symmetry and no trace of the steps that must have led 
up to it were found. The chapel, apart from the shallow apse at its 
east end which is of rather makeshift construction (figs 36, 37), was a 
square chamber with piers at its corners implying a cross-vaulted 
roof. The coping stone of this vault radiating in all four directions 
was a large four-faced stone cross with a socket on top to receive the 
metal cross which crowned the edifice (fig. 61). This unique cross 
was found close by during the excavations of 1928-30 but I was una­
ble to locate it in the storerooms of the Department of Antiquities, 
for which reason I asked the associate architect, Mr. Christos 
Katsibinis, to prepare a drawing of it from a photograph in my pos­
session (fig. 61a). At a later date the northeast and southeast piers 
had been reinforced with square blocks of masonry set against their 
west face, a wall had apparently been erected across the front of the 
apse, obscuring the original arrangement, and some stones had been 
laid in a row in front of the southeast pier, forming a feeding place 
for animals (fig. 37). The plaster floor of the chapel was extensively 
damaged. In our effort to investigate one of the three slanting win­
dows of the roof of the vault below, we dug through the floor and the 
filling at the western side and opened the window (fig. 36a), blocked 
by the upper construction. After study this was closed up again and 
the surface of the floor levelled. On the floor fragments of fresco and 
many glass tesserae from wall mosaics, some with gold surface, were 
found, mostly in the southern section. Similar glass tesserae are re­
ported to have been found by the 1928-30 excavators, both on the 
floor of the chapel (see PEF. Q. St. 1932 p. 202) and in the debris 
close to the south apse of the main church, indicating that the chapel 
walls were partly decorated with frescoes and partly with wall mo­
saics. Our architect has kindly drawn a glass tessera, an enlargement 
of which is presented here (fig. 62). The cemetery block structure 
proved to be the nucleus, the most important and the best preserved, 
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which served the needs of the monks throughout the monastery's 
history as a burial place and as a church. 

To the south of the cemetery lay a court (figs 25, 63, 64), paved in 
coarse unpatterned white mosaics in poor condition and with flag­
stones towards its east and west ends. The western end of the court 
was separated from the rest by a low round arch (see PEF Q. St. 1930 
p. 150 and 1932 p. 200 pi. IV fig. 1), only the lower parts of which 
survive. At its southwestern end is a cemented tank (fig. 65), on its 
west wall a sort of basin projecting into the court (fig. 66), and the 
mouth of a cistern with two well heads, one on top of the other, pro­
bably disturbed by an earthquake (fig. 67). The cistern occupies the 
space under the court and is a large rock-hewn cavity, empty of 
water, measuring 6.5 m deep, 5m wide from north to south and 9m 
long from west to east. Above the east end of the cistern, before the 
step down to the corridor connecting the court with the north vault 
of the main church, was a badly ruined wall of later date running out 
from the church towards the southeast corner of the tomb block (fig. 
68). This no longer exists. The corridor was paved with flagstones. 
To the south of it we cleared a doorway in the church wall giving ac­
cess to the vault under the north aisle and penetrated as far as the 
overlying debris allowed (fig. 69). An arrangement of continuous 
stones in the southeast corner of the corridor forms a type of feeding 
place for animals, probably used at a later period. On the northeast 
side we opened a blocked door in the east wall which led into a room 
filled with debris (figs 64, 70, 71). Work here proceeded with great 
caution because of th;s infill and the fact that the area above, which 
had served as a refectory at a later period, was paved and so any at­
tempt to clear the room below would have resulted in its collapse. 
The filling of this room and that under the north aisle was found to 
include fragments of wall paintings, plaster traceries from windows 
with pieces of glass still in the grooves (fig. 72), mosaic tesserae, 
pieces of marble, roof tiles, a large piece of iron and a jamb stone 
with sockets in which iron bars had been inserted for the grille of a 
window (see fig. 70). These spaces had been filled with rubble at a 
period when the monastery, or parts of it, was being rebuilt after a 
major and extensive disaster. To the east of the cemetery a vault 
with pointed doors (figs 73, 74, 75) and no proper floor, today in very 
poor condition, occupied the area between the tomb block and the 
eastern row of buildings (fig. 76). Chronologically this vault may be 
contemporary with the pointed gateway in the north wall of the 
ruins (fig. 77). Through it we entered and started clearing the area 
north of the cemetery (see also PEF Q. St. 1930 p. 151). We managed 
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to clear a large surface of a stone-paved court and a staircase on a 
sort of flying buttress which runs towards the east row of buildings, 
the upper part of which no longer exists (see figs. 78, 79, 80, 81, 59). 
Under the south side of the flying buttress the floor of a fireplace was 
revealed, embedded with pebble stones to retain the heat, resting 
upon ashlar blocks (fig. 80). To the northwest of the staircase two 
steps leading down towards the north wall of the monastery or the 
east wall of what we think was the main tower, were uncovered (fig. 
82). North of the staircase a pit full of glass fragments from oil lamps 
was found in the floor, among which several coins dating from the 
middle of the eighth century A.D., an Arab clay oil lamp, and two 
rounded stone baluster balls were found. The staircase up to the east 
row of buildings leads into a room orientated south-north and mea­
suring 20 x 4m. This oblong room is the refectory of the last period 
of the monastery which, as was noted earlier, rests upon rooms filled 
up with debris. The remains of six stone tables, one of them still in 
situ, were found on the floor, and along its northwest side, the re­
mains of a wall bench (figs 25, 83, 84). Among the noteworthy ob­
jects found were architectural fragments, fragments of plaster tracery 
of windows (usually in two layers, between which the glass which 
closed the opening of the window was inserted) and a circular glass 
pane about 0.24cm. in diameter, cracked, weathered and covered 
with white flakes, but complete (figs 85, 85a). 

Soundings made by the north wall of the monastery, by the main 
arched gateway (figs 25, 86, 87, 77, 88). Guided by the description gi­
ven by Cyril of Scythopolis we tried to locate the original gateway 
and main tower of the monastery. According to him both faced 
northwards. (Schwartz p. 64, 27-28): 'On the north side lies a very 
pleasant plain... έπί μέντοι τό βόρειον μέρος πεδιάς έστι λίαν τερπνό­
τατη...' ρ. 65, 2-3 '...Facing this plain the tower was built, and the lit­
tle door of the coenobium leads out into it κατ' αυτήν δε τήν πε­
διάδα ο τε πύργος έστήρικται καί τό του κοινοβίου έκβάλλει θυρώ-
ριον'. (and ρ. 64, 19-20): '...and within the coenobium he erected a 
tower too, exceedingly strong and at the same time exceedingly 
handsome. ...εκτισεν δε και πύργον ένδον του κοινοβίου όχυρώτατον 
έν ταύτω καί ώραιότατον'. We therefore decided to clean the area on 
both sides of the north wall of the monastery starting from the north­
west corner up to the west wall of what we consider to be the main 
tower. For the outside work, in addition to our workmen, we used a 
bulldozer for the surface clearing. No damage whatsoever was caused 
by this operation. After removing the fallen stones we noticed that 
the north wall of the monastery, east of the recent gate, had been 
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destroyed by a severe earthquake and in parts, west of the pointed 
arch of the doorway, by artillery shells (the area was used as a train­
ing field after 1948). The wall under discussion had been extensively 
rebuilt in medieval times. We strengthened the main archway gate 
by filling the holes with stone and cement in order to prevent further 
collapse. This operation cannot be considered as full reconstruction 
work, but rather as a precautionary measure. The inside work was 
done, by workmen only, after the area inside the northernmost wall 
had been divided into loci 4x4 metres square, proceeding from west 
to east, identified by the letters A to H. We limited our sounding to 
the last three loci, starting with locus F, which runs north to south 
under the recent archway gate. This locus has been checked by a 
trench to the depth of two metres; this cross-section enabled us to 
view part of the vaulted roof of a room, several layers of fire destruc­
tion and remains of an interior wall running parallel with the north 
wall of the monastery. A small glass juglet 3 cm high, 1 cm wide, I 
believe for holy oil, was recovered from the trench. 

Locus G. (fig. 89). Locus G was excavated to a depth of three 
metres and another vaulted room parallel with locus F was unco­
vered. The vault, which had collapsed, was built of stones jointed 
with lime-plaster. Its east side rests upon a vault built of smaller 
stones and with a conch at the southeast corner and almost 1 metre 
above the maximum depth. The inner faces of the walls were plas­
tered. As yet no entrance to this room (which has the following di­
mensions: east wall 5.85 m, west wall 5.60m, south wall 2.25m., 
north wall 2.55m.) has been found. The room, which was full of de­
bris, produced pottery sherds of the 7th century A.D. and several 
marble pieces, one of which was used as a weight and bears the fol­
lowing Greek inscription OKJASH/MICY, i.e. 'one ounce and a half 
(fig. 90). It weighs 228-230 grams. The ounce (ούγκία) as a unit of 
weight is mentioned in the Life of St. Sabas (Schwartz, Cyril of 
Scythopolis p. 107 24-26): '...he gave Agapetos the little sheepskin 
sack containing ten pieces of dry bread to the weight of about ten 
ounces'. ...δέδωκεν Άγαπητώ τό μηλωτάριον έχον δέκα σχιζία άρτου 
ξηρού ώς άπό δέκα ουγκιών σταθμόν έχοντα', and in the Life of St. 
Moses the Ethiopian (Butler, The Lausiac History of Palladius, 
Cambridge 1904, Texts and Studies 6, 1-2, 19 p. 60, 22): '...of 12 
ounces of dry bread'. ...άρτου ξηρού έν δώδεκα ούγγίαις'. 

Locus Η. Examination of this locus was restricted to the external 
surface of the vaulted roof, which was cleared and exposed sufficient­
ly to show that it is parallel with those found in loci F and G orien-
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tated north-south. The vault is clearly visible but we hesitated to ex­
cavate for fear of immediate collapse of the east wall of this room, 
upon which the external surface of the west wall of the so-called 
main tower of the monastery rests; this may be excavated in the fu­
ture. From the finds and the condition in which these rooms were 
found they seem to have been out of use after the severe earthquake 
of A.D.659. 

Soundings made west of the central nave of the Main Church on 
the line of the western wall of the monastery (see general plan of the 
monastery, fig. 25). This is an area which was not investigated by the 
1928-30 excavators. It is located within the monastery complex in an 
elevated position whence one could observe those approaching from 
the southwest. At the top left corner of plate VI fig. 1 in D.J. Chitty's 
article (The Monastery of St. Euthymius, PEF Q. St. 1932 pp. 
188-203), the remains of a rough construction are visible on exactly 
the same spot as we worked. During surface cleaning and as work 
progressed deeper close to the wall of the main building, we noticed, 
mainly from the way the walls had collapsed, that the lower parts of 
the walls had also suffered, like the other buildings of the monastery, 
from a severe earthquake. The upper parts were built with stones ta­
ken from other fallen buildings. The entrance was from the east. The 
east wall was well preserved and led to a room at the southern corn­
er. A stone to the left of the entrance had a rectangular socket carved 
in its side, presumably to hold a door post (fig. 91). The best pre­
served wall is the northern one, measuring 1.45 cm. wide. Next to it 
we noticed an opening built up and the corner of another building, 
the line of which could easily be detected (fig. 92). The inside line of 
the north wall is being followed westwards; it is not preserved down 
the slope of the hill, and appears only as a line of rubble. The stones 
on the outside of the south wall were pointed with white plaster and 
there are characteristic imprints of a trowel, similar to these found 
on the south and east external walls of the main church and the west 
wall of the chapel on top of the cemetery block. Incorporated in the 
east wall, in secondary use, was a lintel decorated with a Byzantine 
cross (fig. 93). Another decorated lintel was found among the fallen 
stones to the east (figs 94, 94a). We have called this building the 
tower west of the main church, mainly because of its position. Un­
fortunately, owing to budget limitations, we were unable to reach a 
more satisfactory conclusion and work here remains to be completed 
in the future. 

The small finds. The small objects found were of no great interest 
see figs 95, 95a. Most of the pottery was medieval Arabic of the usual 
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types and so no particular mention is required (figs 96-97). In the ar­
chives of D.J. Chitty, now in the Ashmolean Museum at Oxford, we 
found an oil lamp with a cross-shaped handle (fig. 98), and in the De­
partment of Antiquities in Jerusalem photographs of two other oil 
lamps also from the cemetery, one with a cross and the word ANAC-
TACIC stamped underneath (fig. 99) and the other with a different 
pattern of plainer ornament (fig. 100). The other lamps found are 
lamps with duck's head handles (figs 101, 102) and a fragment of a 
later Arab lamp (fig. 103). The coins found were of bronze and in 
very poor condition. Nothing of special value or interest for the his­
tory of coinage was noted. These coins are, however, important for 
the history of the site; they indicate more precisely than any other 
finds the period during which the light and ventilation window of 
the western burial chamber was sealed: on top of the blocking stone 
was found an Umayyad copper coin (fig. 104) dated to A H . 116/AD. 
734-5, the period of the Khalif Hisham ibn Abd al Malek (A.D. 
724-743). The period during which the same burial chamber was 
used, perhaps for the last time, is also indicated by coins, for in the 
entrance to the western burial chamber several coins were found, 
among them one Arab-Byzantine bronze doublestruck coin dated to 
A.D. 650 (fig. 105) and another Umayyad bronze coin dated to AH. 
121/A.D. 738 struck in Damascus (fig. 106). Another Umayyad coin 
was found in the passage of the tomb chamber in the vault under the 
prothesis in 1929 (see PEF Q. St. 1932 p. 193). In the court north of 
the cemetery several dirhams, silver coins of the Abbasid Khalif Abu 
Jaafar Abdallah al Mansur (A.H. 136-158 / A.D. 754-775) were found 
(fig. 107, the coin enlarged). One of these is described here: on the 
obverse and reverse a central field inscription in three lines is sur­
rounded by a linear square and an outer stippled square of points, 
within an outer linear circle surrounded by a stippled circle. The 
marginal inscriptions are in the four segments between the square 
and the circle. The central field inscriptions of this dirham are: 
Obverse Reverse 

ΑΙ-Imam al Muntaser Al-Malek il Adel 
bi Uahi abu Jaafar Seif id-Din 
al-Mansur Amir il-mu'uminin Abi-Bakr Ibn Muhamad. 

The obverse marginal inscription in the four segments between 
the square and the circle reads top left bottom right 'la il Alah Mu­
hamad Rasul Alah'. From the reverse marginal inscription only two 
words at the left segment have been preserved, probably relating to 
the year. 
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Possible chronological sequence of the Church and the cemetery 
block. The earliest building remains in the ruined monastery are the 
following: the floor of the central vault under the church, the vaults 
below and adjacent to the prothesis, parts of the retaining walls of 
the main church and the vaults and retaining walls of the cemetery 
block. Although the date of the vaults of the main church has not yet 
been determined, there are some indications that the aisle vaults are 
earlier than the central one. Likewise the overlying mosaics are ear­
lier than that of the piers dividing the nave and aisles, and the floor 
of the nave which is arranged to fit in with these piers. The pilasters 
along the north and south walls correspond to the piers, actually cut 
into the pattern of the mosaics. Remains of fresco on the walls be­
hind the pilasters proved later than the walls. The floor of the nave 
was laid in exact correspondance with the piers of this rebuilding 
and is therefore later than the mosaics of the aisles. The chapel - like 
arrangement of the main burial chamber dates to a later period, since 
the base of the altar in the middle of the east wall, the base of the 
small construction (altar?) at the southeast corner and the pavement 
of the rough slabs cover wall frescoes, and fragments of frescoes were 
found in abundance under the pavement. Finally, the chapel above 
the main burial chamber in all probability belongs to the final period 
of the monastery. 

Remarks. Work conducted in the campaigns of 1976-79 was of a 
peculiar type, since excavation was carried out in close conjunction 
with repair works, in the manner characteristic of rescue excava­
tions. Very little money was available and we worked under particu­
larly difficult circumstances, which obliged us to do what was possi­
ble rather than what we would have liked to do from the scientific 
point of view. The debris from the excavated areas was not trans­
ferred far from the ruins but was thrown 10 to 20 metres outside the 
walls and in some cases inside the walls of the monastery. The im­
portant but heavy architectural pieces and fragments (figs 93, 94, 
108) were stored at the east end of the central vaulted room under 
the main church, the entrance to which was closed by an iron door. 
The cemetery was sealed hermetically, the border of the mosaics and 
the missing parts of these and the marble pavement were filled and 
edged by a mixture of cement and sand and the whole floor of the 
church was covered with sand. The small objects, architectural frag­
ments figs 108-133, pottery figs 96-103, metal figs 134-146, fresco 
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fragments figs 147-157, glass 
figs 158-164, mother of pearl 
fig. 165, coins figs 104-107 
etc. were transferred and 
delivered to the Department 
of Antiquities' storerooms at 
the Rockefeller Museum in 
Jerusalem with the appro­
priate indications. In addi­
tion the following were sub­
mitted to the Department of 
Antiquities for the excava­
tion archives: an album of 
photographs with detailed 
description of each, the 

A suspended oil lamp with copper strip 
for holding the wick. Reconstruction 
drawing by Christos Katsibinis. 

drawings of the mosaics as well as tracings of some details from the 
mosaic floor, the original plans of the excavations and plans for a 
protective roof above the main church and the cemetery, colour dia­
positives and the negatives of all pictures taken. Provision was made 
to order a wooden coffin with glass cover for the bones sent for exa­
mination and subsequently transferred to the Choziba Monastery at 
Wady el-Qilt. 

As an additional protective measure signs were posted warning of 
the danger of collapse, as well as the usual notices for a historic site. 
The whole site was fenced with barbed wire and iron poles and a 
sign and fence placed on the ruins of the small boundary and watch-
tower on the crest of the spur some 185 metres north of the monas­
tery. Unfortunately this small tower was destroyed completely by a 
contractor working there during 1982 and the fence around the mon­
astery moved so close to the walls that the monumental Justinianic 
cistern east of the monastery and other important parts of the origin­
al laura of the 5th century were left outside (see fig. 166). 

Popular interest during the excavating periods was considerable, 
especially that of the fathers of the desert monasteries of St. Sabas, 
the Choziba Monastery, St. Theodosios, St. Gerasimos and St. Cath­
erine's monastery in Sinai. Many of them visited the site during our 
dig and expressed their wish to see it restored some day to its proper 
use. Articles appeared in the Jerusalem Post on Friday April 22,1977 
p. 3, in the Arabic newpaper El - Kuds on Sunday April 24, 1977, in 
the Vatican Newspaper L' Osservatore Romano on January 14, 
1977, and in the April-May edition of the pilgrim's periodical La 
Terra Santa on pp. 91-95. 
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In my efforts to finance the excavation and restoration works I 
gave slide lectures in Jerusalem; Athens; Boston, Cambridge Mass., 
Charlestown New Hampshire, United States of America; in Munich 
and Regensburg, W. Germany; and Oxford, Great Britain. 

I would like to thank once more the staff of the Department of 
Antiquities and Museums of the State of Israel, the Archaeological 
Section of the West Bank Military Government, the Ecole Biblique, 
the Tantur Ecumenical Institute, the Studium Biblicum Franciscan-
urn, MISSIO (Internationales Katholisches Missionswerk of Ger­
many), the Research Centre for Greek and Roman Antiquity of the 
National Hellenic Research Foundation, the workers employed, all 
the volunteers and especially the architect Mr. Christos Katsibinis. 
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ΠΕΡΙΛΗΨΗ 

ΑΝΑΣΚΑΦΕΙ ΣΤΑ ΕΡΕΙΠΙΑ ΤΗΣ ΜΟΝΗΣ 
ΤΟΥ ΜΕΓΑΛΟΥ ΕΥΘΥΜΙΟΥ (KHAN EL-AHMAR) 

Τά ερείπια της Μονής τοϋ Μεγάλου Ευθυμίου βρίσκονται στην 
έρημο, ανατολικά της 'Ιερουσαλήμ περίπου 17 χιλιόμετρα, νοτίως 
τής όδοϋ Ίεροσολύμων-Ίεριχοΰς. 

Ό "Αγιος Ευθύμιος καταγόταν άπό τή Μελιτηνή τής Μικρας 'Αρ­
μενίας- γεννήθηκε τό 377 μ.Χ. καί τό 406 σε ηλικία 29 ετών ήλθε 
στους 'Αγίους Τόπους όπου παρέμεινε σε σπήλαιο τής λαύρας Φαράν 
γιά πέντε χρόνια. Τό 411 αναζητώντας μεγαλύτερη ησυχία κατέφυγε 
μέ τόν συνασκητή του θεόκτιστο σε μιά άλλη ερημική τοποθεσία, 
στά σπήλαια του χειμάρρου Wadi Mukellik. Ή φήμη τού αγίου Ευ­
θυμίου εξαπλώνεται καί πολλοί μοναχοί, κάτοικοι των γύρω χωριών 
καί σκηνίτες "Αραβες έρχονται νά τόν συναντήσουν. Ό άγιος τους 
νουθετεί καί θεραπεύει τους ασθενείς τους. Μεταξύ τών θεραπευθέ-
ντων είναι καί ό γιος τού σαρακηνοΰ φυλάρχου Άσπέβετου ό όποιος 
Επασχε άπό παράλυση. Ό "Ασπέβετος καί ολόκληρη ή φυλή του, 
μετά άπό αυτό τό γεγονός, βαπτίσθηκαν καί έγιναν Χριστιανοί. Ό 
Άσπέβετος τή προτροπή τού άγιου χειροτονήθηκε άπό τόν Πατριάρ­
χη 'Ιεροσολύμων επίσκοπος, γνωστός ώς Πέτρος επίσκοπος Παρεμ­
βολών καί ήταν ό πρώτος "Αραβας επίσκοπος πού αντιπροσώπευσε 
τους "Αραβες σκηνίτες τής περιοχής στην Οικουμενική Σύνοδο τής 
'Εφέσου τό 431 μ.Χ. Κινούμενος άπό ευγνωμοσύνη ό Άσπέβετος-
Πέτρος κτίζει στην περιοχή Khan el-Ahmar τίς βασικώτερες οικο­
δομές τής λαύρας του αγίου Ευθυμίου, ή όποια έφθασε σε μεγάλη 
ακμή μετά τή σύνοδο τής Χαλκηδόνος τό 451 μ.Χ., οπότε μέ τή 
φωτεινή παρουσία του αγίου Ευθυμίου γίνεται τό κάστρο τής 'Ορθο­
δοξίας στην Παλαιστίνη. Ό άγιος Ευθύμιος απεβίωσε τό 473 μ.Χ. σε 
ηλικία 97 ετών, άφοϋ άφησε εντολή νά μετατραπεί ή λαύρα αυτή σέ 
κοινόβιο. Σέ διάστημα επτά ετών άπό τόν θάνατο του, τόν χώρο τής 
λαύρας κατέλαβε ένα σύγχρονο κοινόβιο περιτειχισμένο, τό όποιο 
περιελάμβανε μιά ευρύχωρη εκκλησία, κοιμητήριο, κοινή τράπεζα, 
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μαγειρείο, πολλά κελλιά, σταύλους, έναν πύργο, μεγάλες δεξαμενές 
νερού καί άλλους βοηθητικούς χώρους. Οί εργασίες αυτές έγιναν μέ 
εντολή του Πατριάρχου 'Ιεροσολύμων καί ύπό τήν επίβλεψη τού δια­
κόνου 'Ιεροσολύμων Φείδου. 

Τό Μοναστήρι στό μακραίωνα βίο του, οκτώ περίπου αιώνων, κα­
ταστράφηκε πολλές φορές άπό βαρβαρικές επιδρομές και άπό σει­
σμούς. Τό 614 άπό τους Πέρσες, τό 637 άπό τους "Αραβες, τό 659 καί 
747 άπό σεισμούς, τό 1009 άπό τόν Χαλίφη Χακίμ καί τέλος τό 

1260-70 άπό τόν Κιρκάσιο Μαμελοϋκο Σουλτάνο Baibars al Malek 
az-Zahir. Τους αιώνες πού ακολούθησαν, τό μοναστήρι κατοικείται 
πότε άπό μοναχούς καί πότε άπό αραβικές φυλές πού κατά καιρούς 
εξουσιάζουν τήν περιοχή. 

Ή ταύτιση τής τοποθεσίας Khan el-Ahmar μέ τήν μονή συμπί­
πτει μέ τήν περιγραφή πού δίνει ό βιογράφος τού αγίου, Κύριλλος ό 
Σκυθοπολίτης, καί μέ τίς αρχαιολογικές ανασκαφές πού έγιναν στην 
περιοχή. 

'Ανασκαφές στά ερείπια τής μονής έγιναν τά έτη 1928-30 ύπό τήν 
διεύθυνση του Derwas J. Chitty έκ μέρους τής Βρεττανικής 'Αρχαιο­
λογικής Σχολής 'Ιεροσολύμων. Τότε καθαρίσθηκαν μέρος του κυ­
ρίως ναού καί τού κοιμητηρίου. 

Κατά τά έτη 1976-79 έγιναν νέες ανασκαφές ύπό τήν διεύθυνση 
τού Δρ. Γιάννη Μεϊμάρη έκ μέρους του τμήματος 'Αρχαιοτήτων του 
'Ισραήλ, οπότε άνεσκάφηκαν καί μελετήθηκαν πέραν τών προανα­
φερθέντων χώρων τής κεντρικής εκκλησίας καί τού κοιμητηρίου, 6 
επιπλέον τάφοι εντός τού κεντρικού θαλάμου, ένας δεύτερος νεκρι­
κός θάλαμος δυτικά τού κεντρικού, ένας μικρότερος καμαροειδής θά­
λαμος βορείως τής προθέσεως τής κεντρικής εκκλησίας, μία μεταγε­
νέστερος περιόδου τράπεζα τής μονής καί οί χώροι εντός τού βο­
ρείου τείχους κοντά στην σημερινή κεντρική είσοδο τής Μονής. Κα­
θαρίσθηκαν δέ επιφανειακά ένας μικρός πύργος δυτικά τής κεντρικής 
εκκλησίας επάνω στή γραμμή τού δυτικού τείχους, οί αυλές βορείως 
και νοτίως του κοιμητηρίου καί ένας χώρος στην Ν.Α. πλευρά έξω 
άπό τήν κεντρική εκκλησία. Επιπλέον ενισχύθηκαν αρκετοί τοίχοι 
βασικών κτισμάτων καί συντηρήθηκαν, άφοΰ πρώτα άπεκαλύφθησαν 
τά ψηφιδωτά δάπεδα καί τό μαρμαροθέτημα τής κεντρικής εκκλη­
σίας, τά όποΐα τελικά σκεπάσθηκαν μέ άμμο γιά νά προστατευθούν. 

Βρέθηκαν αρκετά αρχιτεκτονικά μέλη, κομμάτια άπό τοιχογρα­
φίες διαφόρων εποχών, γύψινες υποδοχές υαλοπινάκων, ένας ακέ­
ραιος υαλοπίνακας, αρκετά γυάλινα θραύσματα. 'Επίσης βρέθηκαν 
όστρακα άπό μαγειρικά σκεύη, λυχνάρια κ.λπ., αρκετές ψηφίδες άπό 
ύαλόμαζα καί διαφανή ύαλο, τών οποίων ή επιφάνεια ήταν καλυμμέ-
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νη άπό φύλλο χρυσού ή αργύρου, τεμάχια άπό φίλντισι, πολλά μεταλ­
λικά μικροαντικείμενα (καρφιά διαφόρου μεγέθους, γάντζοι, θραύ­
σματα άπό σταυρούς, πόρπες, υποδοχές φυτιλιού γιά κανδήλια κ.λπ.) 
καθώς και νομίσματα αραβικής κυρίως εποχής. 

Άπό τίς ανασκαφές τών ετών 1928-30 καί 1976-79 πιστεύουμε 
ότι άπό τά οικοδομήματα τής λαύρας έχουν εντοπισθεί: ό χώρος πού 
βρισκόταν τό κελλί του αγίου, τό δάπεδο τού αρχικού ευκτήριου οί­
κου, μιά δεξαμενή καί μιά αποθήκη γιά σιτάρι ανατολικά τού χώρου 
τών ανασκαφών, ϊσως δε καί ό πρώτος τάφος τού αγίου. Άπό τά οι­
κοδομήματα τού κοινοβίου πού κτίσθηκε επάνω άπό τους χώρους τής 
λαύρας έχουν εντοπισθεί: τό κοιμητήριο, οί βασικοί τοίχοι τής εκ­
κλησίας, δύο καμαρωτοί τάφοι κάτω άπό τήν πρόθεση καί βορείως 
τής προθέσεως, ό πύργος τής μονής, τό θυρωρείο αρκετά δωμάτια, 
καί τό κάτω μέρος τού εξωτερικού τείχους σέ όλες σχεδόν τίς πλευ­
ρές του. Άπό μεταγενέστερες περιόδους έχουν βρεθεί: λείψανα εκ­
κλησίας εντός τού κοιμητηρίου, λείψανα παρεκκλησίου επάνω άπό 
τό κοιμητήριο, μέρη τής κεντρικής εκκλησίας, μεγάλες δεξαμενές νε­
ρού εντός και έκτος τού συγκροτήματος τής Μονής, μία τράπεζα, με­
γάλο μέρος τού Β.Δ. τείχους μέ τήν εξωτερική πύλη, πολλοί διαχωρι­
στικοί καί ενισχυτικοί τοίχοι, κλίμακες, διάδρομοι καί καμάρες ενός 
λαβυρινθώδους συγκροτήματος, τό όποΐο όμως έάν δέν καθαριστεί 
πλήρως δέν είναι δυνατόν νά διαβαστεί αρχιτεκτονικά καί νά προσ­
διορισθούν οί χρονολογικές φάσεις τής λειτoυpΎίαc του. 





Fig. 3. View of the south aisle of the main 
church during the 1928-30 exca­
vations. 

Fig. 4. The vault under the south aisle. Notice 
the walls upon which the vault stands 
and the door on the left which leads to 
the central vault. 

Fig. 5. The main church after the 1928-30 excavations and the precautionary measures ta­
ken by the excavators (Dept. of Antiquities, Jerusalem, Neg. no. 3868). 
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Fig. 9. Picture of a colour painting by Mrs A. 
H. M. Jones: the space under the dome 
inlaid with coloured stones and marble 
in the opus sectile technique. 

Fig. 9a. Details of the opus sectile pavement 
(1976-79 excavations). 
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/Vg. 9/J. Details of the mosaics of the central aisle (1976-79). 
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Fig. 9b. Black and white photograph of a colour painting (study) of the 
mosaics in the centre of the bay, by Mrs Α. H. M. Jones, with a 
six-leaved motif at the centre. 
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Fig. 10. The prothesis floor after its partial collapse (winter 1979-80). 
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Fig. 11. View of the presbyterion during the 1976-79 excavations. 
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Fig. 15. Black and white photograph of a colour painting (study), 
south aisle, third medallion from the east, by Mrs 
A.H.M. Jones depicting ten-pointed star within circular 
frame. 

I 
' 

Fig. 16. Black and white photograph of a colour painting (study), south aisle, fourth medal/ion from the 

east, bv Mrs A.H.M. Jones. 



Fig. 17. Photograph of 
colour paint­
ing (study), 
south aisle. 
fifth medallion 
from the east, 
by Mrs A. H. 
M. Jones de­
picting central 
six-pointed 
star with dia­
mond outline 
on each point 
enclosed in a 
circle. 
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F/g. 18. View of the western part of the south aisle floor during the 1976 excavations. 



Fig. 18a. Drawing of the mosaics in the western part of the south aisle dur­
ing the 1976-79 excavations. 

Fig. 18b. Restoration and protective measures taken at the western end of the southern aisle. 1978. 



Fig. 19. The main church from the northwest after some basic protective measures had been taken 
at the end of the 1978 season. 

Fig. 20. Covering of the floor of the church with sand at the end of the 1979 excavation season. 



Fig. 21. Photograph of a colour painung by 
Mrs. A. H. M. Jones of the lower 
part of a warrior saint found on one 
of the pilasters of the south wall of 
the main church during the 1928 
excavations. 

Fig. 22. Photograph oj a colour painting by 
Mrs A.H.M. Jones of the lower part 
of a figure with long robes found on 
another pilaster of the south wall of 
the main church. The originals no 
longer exist. (Courtesy of St. Gre­
gory and St. Macrina House, Ox-
ford). 

Fig. 23. Photograph of a fresco of a saint's 
head pieced together from large 
fragments found up against the 
middle of the west wall in the 
main burial chamber during the 
1928-30 excavations. Now in the 
basement of the Rockefeller Mu­
seum in Jerusalem. 

Figs 24, 24a.Fragments of frescoes found among the de 
bris. 
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DETAIL A 

Fig. 26. Drawing of wall stones pointed with white plaster with characteristic 
trowel imprints during the 1976-79 excavations. 

Fig. 27. The stone bench along the western wall of the sacristy project­
ing along the south wall of the main church. J 979. 
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Fig. 28. Plan of the south sacristy (after Katsibinis, 1977). 

Fig. 29. The collapsed vaulted room at the southeast corner outside the main church, 1978. 



Fig. 30. Part of the large vault under the prothesis (to the left) and of the small vault under the sa­
cristy (to the right) from the east, 1979. 

Fig. 31. Two low partitions forming two troughs used as tombs with the aperture in the 
east wall in the chamber under the prothesis of the main church during the 
1928-30 excavations. 



Fig. 32. Close-up of the small vault under the sacristy during the 1979 excavations. 

Fig. 33. Interior of the small vault from the west, Fig. 34. interior of the small vault from the east, 
1979. 1979. 
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/>#. i5. Sections of the mam burial chamber and the main church during the 1928-30 excavations. 

Fig. 36. The chapel above the main burial chamber during the 1976- 79 
excavations. 

Fig. 36a. The chapel above 
the main burial 
chamber; notice 
one of the inspect­
ed windows in the 
roof of the vault 
below. 



RFA ABOVE THE CEMETERY 

Fig. 37. Plan of the area above the cemetery (1976- 79 excavations). 

M I SEC Τ ION A.A- Scale 1: 

Fig. 38. Section A. A. of the cemetery block (1976-79 excavations). 



Fig. 39. Fast wall of the main burial chamber, the two niches, the re­
mains of the altar and several architectural fragments found 
during the 1928-30 excavations. 

Fig. 40. Fast wall of the main burial chamber: tombs m foreground; section of excavated floor 
above; and the remains of the two niches (1976-79 excavations). 
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fig. 42. Axonometric section A.A. of the cemetery (after Katsibinis, 1979). 
1. Floor of the chapel 
2. Corridor west of the chapel 
3. Tombs NE. of the main burial chamber 
4. Level of the tombstones in the main burial chamber 
5. Level of the western burial chamber 
6. Ventilation and light window 
7. Blocked passageway to the W. burial chamber 
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Fig. 46. The main burial chamber, view from the east (1976-79 excavations). 

Fig. 47. North wall: on the right is a square-headed doorway and on the left a square aperture 
at the same level (1976-79 excavations). 



Fig. 47a. The floor of the main burial chamber before it was removed in 1976. 

Fig. 48. The main burial chamber, view from the south (1976-79 excavations). 



Fig. 49. The tomb at the northwest corner of the main burial 
chamber excavated in 1976. 

Fig. 50. The tomb at the southeast corner of the main burial chamber, excavated in 1977. 



Fig. 51. The western burial chamber at the time of opening from the south, 1976. 

Fig 52. A white marble fragment with a fragmentary inscription found blocking to­
gether with other stones the entrance to the western burial chamber in 1976. 



Fig. 53. The western burial chamber from 
the south, 1976. 

ν 
A; 

F/g. 5^. 77ΐβ western burial chamber from the north after the 1976-79 excavations. 



Fig. 55. The western burial chamber, the sector to the left of the corridor. 

m * 

^••npnpBBH 

%5 

1 

• 

Fig. 56. The ventilation and light window with the blocking stone in place above the western burial 
chamber, 1976. 
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Fig. 57. The entrance to the western Durial chamber from inside after clearance (1976-79 excavations) 

Fig. 58. The aperture on the south wall of the main burial chamber during the 1928- 30 exca valu 
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Fig. 58a. The aperture on (ne south wall oj the main burial chamber built up from the outside. 
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Fig. 59. The north court from the east, 1979. 
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Fig. 60. The roofed staircase leading down to the 
cemetery during the 1928-30 exca-

. valions. 

Fig. 61. Large, broken four-faced stone 
cross (with a socket for a metal 
cross on the (op), ft was found 
by the 1927 excavators close to 
the chapel above the main bur­
ial chamber. It was the coping 
stone of the vault, proclaiming 
in all four directions that π 
crowned the edifice erected 

above the saint's body. 

OUTLINE. OF A 
GLASS TES5E1-LA 

4 PROTECTIVE GLASS iAYE/Z 
Z.GOLP Ofz SILVEti Sl/RFAce. 
S.GLASS CUBE 
4.BED CONNECTING MATERIAL 

Fig. 61a. Reconstruction, drawing of the above de­
scribed stone. 

Fig. 62. Drawing of a glass tessera. 



Fig. 63. View of the court to the south of 
the cemetery before 1977 excava­
tions. 

Fig. 64. View of the court to the south of the cemetery after 1979 excavations. 



Fig. 65. A cemented settling tank and a 
basin at the southwest corner of 
the south court (1976-79 excava­
tions). Fig. 67. The western part of the same 

court from the south (1976-79 
excavations). 

Fig. 66. The southwest corner of the south courl Fig. 68. Northeast corner of the court to the 
during the 1928-30 excavations. south of the cemeter 

1928-30 excavations. 
during the 



Fig. 69. Southeast corner of the south court after 1978 excavations. 

Fig. 70. The eastern part of the south court after 1978 excavations. 



Fig. 71. A blocked entrance to the 
northeastern corner of the 
south court after opening 
(1978 excavations). 

Fig. 72. Plaster tracery from windows, with fragments of glass still in situ in the grooves. 
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Fig. 71 Northeast corner of the south court and the pointed archway entrance leading to the vault in 

the space between the cemetery block and the buildings to the east (1976-79 excavations). 
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Fig. 74. The same pointed archway entrance 
during the 1928-30 excavations. 

Fig. 75. Southeast corner of the court north of 
the cemetery. Note the staircase and 
the pointed arch entrance to the vault 
east of the cemetery (1928-30 exca­
vations). 
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Fig. 77. The medieval pointed gate­
way in the north wall of the 
Monastery. 

Fig. 78. The cemetery and the vault to the east, the refectory and the main church from the north in 
1978. 



Fig. 79. A staircase on a flying buttress 
leading from the north court up to 
the refectory (1979 excavations). 
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F/g. 50. The floor of a fireplace (oven?) under the staircase excavated in 1979. 
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Fig. 81. Part of the north court (lower left hand corner), the chapel above the cemetery (centre) and 
the church (top) from the north, 1979. 

1 . ι .· · 7 -

Fig. 82. North court, to the northwest of the 
staircase two steps running down to­
wards the north wall of the monastery. 



Fig. 83. The refectory from the north, 1978. 

Fig. 84. One of the stone-buill tables and benches at the northwest corner of the refectory. 1978. 
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Fig. 85. Glass window pane. 

SECTION A A 

Fig. 85a. Drawing of the restored circular window pane. 



Fig. 86. View of the ruins from the north, c. 1910 (Ecole Biblique archives, Jerusalem). 

Fig. 87. Northwest corner of the ruins, interior view 1927 (Dept. of Antiquities, Jerusalem, Neg. no. 870). 



Fig. 88. View from the west of the soundings alongside the north wall of the monastery, 1977. 

Fig. 90. A small piece of marble 
used as a weight bearing 
the inscription OKIA S 
H/MIC Y found during 
the soundings alongside 
the north wall of the 
monastery in 1977. 

Fig. 89. Locus G after it was excavated. 



Fig. 91. Excavai:ag the western tower, 1976. 

',";.*""' 

Fig. 92. The east wall of the western tower, 1V76. 



Fig. 93. Drawing of a lintel (0.32x0.64 cm) in secondary use found in the northeast corner of 

the western tower in 1976. 
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Fig. 94. A stone (0.26x0.57 cm) with a cross ana tne sacred names Ί(ησοΰ)ς 
Χ(ριστό)ς in abbreviated form found east of the western tower in 
1976. 

Fig. 94a. Drawing of an engraved limestone (0,26 χ 0.5" cm) with a cross 
measuring 0,20 χ 0,18 cm. found east of the western tower in 1976. 



Fig. 95. A soft stone with a raised area, perhaps used for a painting of 
Christ, and an engraved tree, the branches of which form a cross. 
The nomina sacra "Ι(ησου)ς Χ(ριστό)ς' in abbreviated form are dis­
tinct on both the icon and the cross. Found during the 1928-30 
excavations. 

Fig. 95a. Drawing of the above described stone. 
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Figs 96-97. Selection of medieval and later pottery sherds from the 1928-30 and 1976-79 excava­
tions; pot from the 1928-30 excavations. 



Fie 98 Lamp with cross-shaped handle. Fig. 99. Lamp with cross and the word ANACTACIC 
stamped underneath. Fig. 100. Lamp of plain type with varied patterns. Figs 101-102. Lamps with 
duck's head handles. Fig. 103. Fragment of later Arab lamp. 



104 

104. Umayyad copper coin A.D. 734-5; 

105. Arab-Byzantine bronze doubles-
truck coin AD. 650; 

106. Umayyad bronze coin A.D. 738; 

107. Abbasid dirham A.D. 754-775. 
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Obverse Reverse 

Figs 104-107. Arabic coins. 
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FîgS 108-118. Marble and stone architectural fragments of capitals, friezes, small columns from 
different periods found during the 1928-30 and 1976-79 excavations. 



Figs. 119-125. Marble fragments of small spiral columns of various sizes probably belonging to the 
ciborium; and other architectural fragments. 



Fig. 126. A fragment of a stone cross, 1976-79 excavations. Figs. 127, 129. Marble fragments of altar 
slab, 1976-79 excavations. Fig. 128. A marble fragment of a narrow screen panel in the corner of which 
is a heart-shaped leaf of a terminating vine, found in 1976. Fig. 130. Three fragments of the same in­
scription found by the 1928-30 excavators at various places on the site. Fig. 131. An alabaster fragment 
with the inscription (0)IAOCO0IAC, possibly from an altar-edge, 1928-30 excavations (a similar piece 
was found in the excavations of St. Etienne, see Vincent and Abel Jerusalem, p. 798, pi. 129, 7). Fig. 133. 
An inscribed fragment, perhaps of a tombstone, 1976-79 excavations. Fig. 132. Another inscribed archi­
tectural fragment, 1976 excavations. 



Figs 134-146. Metal objects. 

134 Fragments of an indeterminate bronze object. 135. A flat bar of a suspension chain. 
136 139 Hooks of different types for locking boxes, cupboards etc. b. for suspension chains. 137. Strip 
of copper for holding the wick, with a clasp for the wick at one end and a fixture for attachment to 
the rim of the vessel at the other. 140. Nails. 141. Rivets. 142. Indeterminate objects. 143. Frag­
ments of crosses. 144. Pin from belt buckle? 145. Fragments of indeterminate screw-like objects. 
146. Metal object, perhaps pin, inserted in locking device. 
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Figs. 147-157. Fragments of frescoes found in the debris, some bearing Greek letters and others 
with floral decorations. Several layers of wall paintings can be detected. Found dur­
ing the 1928-30 and 1976-79 excavations. 



165 

Figs 158-160. Fragments ofglass objects such as small phiales for holy oil. Figs. 161-161 Base of stemmed 
goblet and handle of a glass vessel. Fig. 163. Glass window pane. Fig. 164. A large number of bases of glass 
oil lamps Most were found in a small pit beside the staircase of the court north of the cemetery Fig^ 165. Cir­
cular pieces of mother of pearl, once decorating a wooden object, found in the western bunal chamber. 
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The space under the dome of the Main Church inlaid with coloured stones. 
Photograph of a colour painting by Mrs A.H.M. Jones. 
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Λ/&//1 Church. Detail of the prothesis mosaic showing a cross (see fig. 7). 

. ^ ^ 

Main Church. Detail of the south aisle mosaics, first medallion from the east. 
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MÛ/M Church. Details of the south aisle mosaics. 
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Main Church. Details of the south aisle mosaics. 
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A/am Church. Details of the south aisle mosaics. 



The lower part of a warrior 
saint. Photograph of a colour 
painting by Mrs A.H.M. 
Jones (see fig. 21). 

The lower part of a saint. 
Photograph of a colour paint­
ing by Mrs A.H.M. Jones (see 
fig- 22). 

South aisle, fifth medallion 
from the east. Photograph of a 
colour painting (study) by Mrs 
A.H.M. Jones. 



A chalice with a snake; detail of the south aisle mosaics. 

Part of the southern border of the south aisle. Photograph of a colour painting by Mrs A.H.M. Jones. 
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Fragments of frescoes found in the debris. 


